# EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERGRATING COMMUNITY AND HOSPITAL SERVICES REGARDING ANTENATAL CARE SERVICES BY AAC MODEL IN QUETTA,

PAKISTAN

Mr. Sheh Mureed

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Doctor of Philosophy in Public Health

College of Public Health Sciences

Chulalongkorn University

Academic Year 2011

Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository(CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the Graduate School.

### ประสิทธิภาพการบูรณาการชุมชนและการบริการของโรงพยาบาลในการให้บริการการฝากครรภ์

โดยใช้โมเคลเอเอซี ในเมืองเควต้าร์

นายเชย์ มูรี้ค

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาสาธารณสุขศาสตรดุษฏีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาสาธารณสุขศาสตร์ วิทยาลัยวิทยาศาสตร์สาธารณสุขจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2554 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

# Thesis TitleEFFECTIVENESS OF INTERGRATING COMMUNITY AND<br/>HOSPITAL SERVICES REGARDING ANTENATAL CARE<br/>SERVICES BY AAC MODEL IN QUETTA, PAKISTAN.ByMr. Sheh MureedField of StudyPublic Health

Accepted by the College of Public Health Sciences, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Doctoral Degree

Assistant Professor Ratana Somrongthong, Ph.D.

..... Dean of the College of Public Health Sciences (Professor SurasakTaneepanichskul, M.D.)

#### THESIS COMMITTEE

Thesis Advisor

..... Chairperson (Professor SurasakTaneepanichskul, M.D.)

...... Thesis Advisor (Assisstant Professor Ratana Somrongthong, Ph.D.)

..... Examiner (Associate Professor Sathirakorn Pongpanich, Ph.D.)

(Alessio Panza, M.D., M.Com.H, DTMH)

..... External Examiner

(Nanta Auamkul, M.D., M.P.H.)

เชย์ มูรี๊ด : ประสิทธิภาพการบูรณาการชุมชนและการบริการของโรงพยาบาลในการให้บริการการ ฝากครรภ์โดยใช้โมเดลเอเอซี ในเมืองเควด้ำร์)ประเทศปากีสถาน (EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERGRATING COMMUNITY AND HOSPITAL SERVICES REGARDING ANTENATAL CARE SERVICES BY AAC MODEL IN QUETTA, PAKISTAN), อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก : ผศ. ดร. รัตนา สำโรงทอง, 125 หน้า.

จากการทบทวนการรายงานความครอบคลุมของการเข้าถึงบริการการฝากครรภ์ใน เมืองเควตาร์ พบว่ามีเพียงร้อยละ 51 ของหญิงตั้งครรภ์โดยเข้ารับบริการฝากครรภ์เพียง 1 ครั้ง และความครอบคลมของ การฝากกรรภ์กรบ 4 กรั้ง มีเพียงร้อยละ 14 เท่านั้น จากเหตุผลดังกล่าวผู้ศึกษาจึงได้พัฒนารูปแบบกวาม ร่วมมือร่วมใจของหญิงตั้งครรภ์เพื่อเข้าถึงบริการการฝากครรภ์ให้ครบ 4 ครั้ง ตามเกณฑ์มาตรฐานของ องค์การอนามัยโลก ภายใต้การ บรณาการร่วมกันระหว่างชมชนและการให้บริการของโรงพยาบาล การ บริการ การให้คำปรึกษาและการพัฒนาการให้บริการอย่างเด็มรูปแบบ ประชากรกลุ่มตัวอย่างใช้วิธีการสุ่ม จากจำนวนหญิงตั้งครรภ์ในไตรมาศแรก จำนวน 100คน จากคลินิกให้บริการผู้ป่วยนอกของโรงพยาบาล รัฐบาลทั้งสองแห่ง รูปแบบการศึกษาวิจัยในครั้งนี้เป็นแบบการศึกษากึ่งทคลองภาคสนาม โดยแบ่งออกเป็น กลุ่มทดลองและกลุ่มควบคม คือคลินิกบริการการฝากกรรภ์ของ โรงพยาบาลอย่างละหนึ่งแห่ง การจัดเก็บ ้ข้อมูลจำนวนสองครั้งคือก่อนและหลังคำเนินการทั้งสองกลุ่ม ผลการศึกษาพบว่า ความครอบคลุมของการ เข้ารับบริการการฝากกรรภ์กรบ 4 กรั้ง มีอัตราเพิ่มขึ้นรวมไปถึงมีกวามรู้ ทัศนกติและกวามพึงพอใจของหญิง ้ตั้งครรภ์ที่เข้ารับการบริการการฝากครรภ์เพิ่มมากขึ้น โดยก่อนดำเนินการศึกษาวิจัยไม่มีความแตกต่างอย่างมี ้นัยสำคัญทางสถิติในเรื่องทัศนคติ ความรู้และความพึงพอใจ ทั้งสองกลุ่ม หลังจากการคำเนินการพบว่า มี ้ความแตกต่างกันอย่างเห็นได้ชัดโดยในกลุ่มทอดลอง หญิงตั้งครรภ์เข้ารับบริการการฝากครรภ์ครบ 4 ครั้ง ้ จำนวน 33 คน (ร้อยละ 71.7) และกลุ่มควบคุม จำนวน 11 คน(ร้อยละ23.9) โคยมีความแตกต่างกันอย่างมี ้นัยสำคัญทางสถิติ (p <0.001) นอกจากนี้ยังมีความแตกต่างในเรื่องความรู้ ทัศนคติ และความพึงพอใจ ที่ ้เกี่ยวข้องกับการฝากครรภ์ทั้งก่อนและหลังคำเนินการอย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติ(b <0.001) สรปจากการศึกษา ในครั้งนี้ชี้ให้เห็นว่าหญิงตั้งครรภ์ได้เข้าถึงบริการการฝากครรภ์เพิ่มขึ้นทั้งในด้านความรู้ , การเปลี่ยนทัศนคติ และความพึงพอใจกับบริการค้านการฝากกรรภ์โดยการใช้อาสาสมักรสาธารณสุขผู้หญิงเพื่อส่งเสริมให้ผู้หญิง ใด้เข้าถึงการบริการการฝากกรรภ์ครบ 4 ครั้ง ตามเกณฑ์มาตรฐานขององก์การอนามัยโลกเพื่อส่งเสริมการมี สุขภาพที่ดีทั้งแม่และทารกในครรภ์

สาขาวิชา: <u>สาธารณสุขศาสตร์</u>	_ถายมือชื่อนิสิต
ปีการศึกษา <u>2554</u>	_ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก

# ## 5379214853 : Public Health KEYWORDS : ANC/UTLIZATION/ADHERENCE/AAC MODEL/ SHEH MUREED: EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERGRATING COMMUNITY AND HOSPITAL SERVICES REGARDING ANTENATAL CARE SERVICES BY AAC MODEL IN QUETTA, PAKISTAN. ADVISOR: Asst. Prof. Rattana Somrongthong, Ph.D. The literature review of Antenatal coverage in Quetta city reveals that 51% of

pregnant women had only 1 visit for antenatal care and percentage further drops to 14% for 4 antenatal care visits. Considering the above facts a model was developed to increase adherence of pregnant women to WHO recommended 4 times ANC visits, through integrating community and hospital services, counseling, and service mobilization. One hundred pregnant women in their first trimester were randomly selected from the OPD of two government hospitals. The study design was a quasiexperimental study. One hospital served as the control group where as the other as the intervention. Data was collected at two times pre and post in both the groups. The main outcome was the 4 ANC visits completed by pregnant women, and also increase in knowledge, change in attitude and higher satisfaction concerning ANC. At the pretest there was no significant difference in groups regarding, knowledge attitude and satisfaction making the group comparable to conduct the intervention. The posttest results illustrate that there was a significant difference regarding number of ANC visit completed. In the intervention group 33 (71.7%) completed their 4 ANC visits compared to 11 (23.9%) in the control group the difference is statically significant (p < .001). There was also difference in knowledge (p < .001), attitude (p< .001), and satisfaction (p < .001) regarding ANC before and after the intervention. The findings of this research suggests that by increasing pregnant women's knowledge, changing their attitudes and increasing satisfaction with health service by using health community workers to encourage women for attending ANC, can help adhere pregnant women to 4 times ANC visits according to the WHO guidelines leading to better health for mothers and the unborn child.

Field of Study:	Public Health	Student's Signature	
Academic Year:	2012	Advisor's Signature	

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The completion of this work owes much to the inspiration encouragement and cooperation from many individuals and organizations. I wish to express my sincere appreciation to my thesis advisor Assistant Professor Ratana Somrongthong for guiding me through the academic research with constant encouragement, patience, and wisdom.

My respected teachers at the College of public health, Professor Surasak Taneepanichskul, Dr. Alessio Panza, Dr. Sathirakorn Pongpanich, Dr. Nanta Auamkul, Dr. Robert Sedgwick Chapman, Dr, Sirikul Isaranuruk, and all other college staff who have given me their unequivocal support throughout, as always, for which my mere expression of thanks likewise does not suffice.

This PhD and other educational achievements in my carrier would not have been possible without the support of Professor Shehnaz Naseer Baloch for financing and encouraging for higher education. She has been invaluable on both an academic and at personal level, for which I am extremely grateful.

I would like to thank medical superintendents of Bolan Medical Complex Hospital and Sandeman Provincial hospital for allowing me to conducted research in their hospitals. I will like to thank National Program for FP, PHC & PPIP and National Maternal and child health programs for letting me use their workers. My greatest appreciation goes to the people who worked in this intervention such as the 10 community health workers, the counselor Mrs. Fatima and Mrs. Gul, lab technician Mr. Aziz and lady medical officers the 4 research assistant Mrs. Sabra, Mrs. Sheeren, Mrs. Durdana, Mrs. Mahnaz who worked very hard to collect data for this project. My gratitude and appreciation to all the subjects and their families participated in this study.

I would like to thank the one and only Dr. Abdul Ghaffer for his kindness, friendship and technical support for my dissertation and my life. I wish to express my love and appreciation to my father Dr. Nasser Baloch for encouragement and emotion support thorough out my study.

For any errors or inadequacies that may remain in this work, of course, the responsibility is entirely my own.

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT IN THAI	iv
ABSTRACT IN ENGLISH	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	vi
CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	x
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
ABRIVIATION	xii

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION		
1.1	Rational and Justification	
1.2	Background4	
1.3	Balochistan	
1.4	Statement of the Problem7	
1.5	Objectives7	
1.6	Research Questions	
1.7	Hypotheses	
1.8	Study Area	
1.9	Conceptual framework10	
1.10	Operational Definitions11	
1.11	Benefits of the study:13	
СНАР	TER II LITERATURE REVIEW14	
2.1	Antenatal Care	
2.2	Comprehensive VS Focused ANC	
2.3	Utilization of Health care	

		Page
2.4	Model of health care utilization	22
2.5	Satisfaction	23
2.6	Conceptual Models of Satisfaction with health care	24
2.7	Literature review Utilization of Antenatal care	26
2.8	Pakistan	29
2.9	Theories	33
2.10	The Intervention: Adherence to Antenatal care (AAC) Model	36
CHA	PTER III METHODOLGY	
3.1	Study design	39
3.2	Study site	40
3.3	Study Population	41
3.4	Sample size calculation	42
3.5	Sampling method	43
3.6	Research Instrument	43
3.7	Validity and Reliability	45
3.8	Data collection	45
3.9	Data Analysis	45
3.10	Study Process	46
3.11	Ethical Consideration	53
CHAI	PTER IV RESULTS	55
4.1	General and socio economic characteristics	55
4.2	Past ANC history	58
4.3	Accessibility and waiting time	59
4.4	Social support for ANC	60
4.5	Knowledge, Attitude and Satisfaction Scores	61
4.6	Knowledge and attitude of subjects regarding ANC	61
4.7	Satisfaction with ANC Services	64
4.8	Adherence to 4 ANC visits	67
4.9	Factors associated with 4 times ANC visits during current pregnancy	68

#### Page

CH	CHAPTER V DISCUSSION69	
5.1	Pre-intervention characteristics	72
5.2	Effectiveness of the AAC model	73
5.3	Conclusion	77
5.4	Limitation	80
5.5	Recommendation	81
REI	FERENCES	82
APF	PENDICES	94
App	pendix A: Consent Form	95
App	pendix B: Questionnaire	96
App	pendix C: Time frame and Budget	
App	pendix D: Budget	
App	pendix E: Classifying Form	
App	pendix F: Counseling Module	107
App	pendix G: ANC card	
App	pendix H: Training of Nurses	
App	pendix I: IEC Contents	
App	pendix J: Activities of AAC model	
App	pendix K: Knowledge Statements	
App	pendix L: Attitude Statements	
App	pendix M: Satisfaction Statements	
App	pendix N: Permission Letter	
CUI	RRICULUM VITAE	

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Ecological Perspective   33
Table 2 Interpersonal Levels    35
Table 3 Intrapersonal Levels    36
Table 4 AAC model Intervention
Table 5 General and Socio Economic Characteristics of the subjects
Table 6 Past histories of the subjects regarding ANC    58
Table 7 Accessibility and waiting time regarding ANC for both the hospitals
Table 8 Social Support of Husbands and Mother-in Law regarding ANC in the groups 60
Table 9 Mean difference of knowledge, attitude and satisfaction between groups           61
Table 10 Percentage of Knowledge of subjects regarding ANC    62
Table 11 Knowledge Level of the subject before and after the intervention
Table 12 Percentage of positive Attitude of the subjects towards ANC
Table 13 Percentage of subject with positive and negative attitude    63
Table 14 Mean differences in knowledge and attitude score within64
Table 15 Percentage of high Satisfaction of subject towards 7 aspect of satisfaction65
Table 16 Percentage of subjects with low or high satisfaction toward ANC services66
Table 17 Mean differences in satisfaction score towards ANC
Table 18 Mean differences in 7 aspects of satisfaction towards ANC    67
Table 19 Number and percentage of subjects who attended ANC visits
Table 20 Association of knowledge, attitude, and satisfaction of subjects with 4 ANC68

Page

#### LIST OF TABLES

Figure 1 Map of Pakistan	9
Figure 2 Conceptual Frame Work	10
Figure 3 Utilization of Health care services	23
Figure 4 UNCIEF MICS 2004: utilization of ANC in Balochistan	32
Figure 5 Flow of the subject	54

#### Abbreviations

AAC	Adherence to Antenatal care
ANC	Antenatal Care
BHU	Basic Health Unit
ВМСН	Boland Medical Complex Hospital
CHW	Community health worker
EMRO	Regional Office for Eastern Mediterranean
GATHER	Greet, Ask, Tell, Help, Explain Return
LHW	Lady Health worker
LHV	Lady Health visitor
LHS	Lady Health supervisor
MDG	Millennium Development Goal
MICS	Multi indicators Cluster survey
MNCH	Maternal Newborn and Child health Centre
NMCH	National Program on Maternal Newborn and child Health
OPD	Out patient department
PSQ 18	Patient Satisfaction Questionnaires 18
RHC	Rural Health Centre
SBH	Skilled Birth Attendant
SPH	Sandeman Provisional Hospital
SMI	Safe Motherhood Initiative
TBA	Traditional birth attendant
WHO	World Health Organization

# CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

Antenatal care (ANC) is the complex of interventions that a pregnant woman receives from health care services throughout pregnancy. The purpose of ANC is to prevent or identify and treat conditions that may threaten the health of the baby and the mother, and also to help a woman approach pregnancy and birth as a safe experience (Banta, 2003). Despite amassed coverage in the last 10 years, ANC still can only continue to realize its considerable potential by improving responsiveness, breaking down the barriers to access and refocusing on effective interventions (WHO, 2005). A study on antenatal care estimated that worldwide only 70% of women ever receive any ANC, whereas in industrialized countries more than 95% of pregnant women receive ANC. The region of the world with the one of the lowest levels of use is South Asia, where only 54% of pregnant women have at least one antenatal care visit ( Abou-Zahr Lidia and Tessa, 2003).

Safe Motherhood Initiative (SMI) from 1987 led to a fresh impetus of research, which defined the policy and strategies, needed to combat continuing high levels of maternal deaths in past. The greatest effort has been placed on increasing access to skilled birth attendants and obstetric emergency care (Family Care International, 2007). Fifteen years after the launch of SMI. It is clear that policy to decrease maternal mortality must knit together more closely the separate components of maternal care, from ANC through the prenatal period, in order to have the greatest impact on maternal health (Gerein Mayhew and Lubben, 2002). ANC interventions, in and of themselves, cannot be anticipated to have a major impact on maternal mortality, their purposefulness is to improve maternal and prenatal health, 'this being an end in itself and necessary for improving the health and survival of infants and mothers (WHO and UNICEF, 2003). In addition, the potentiality of ANC as the line of action to increase the rate of births attended by skilled health staff, and its significance as an entry point for other health programs for example malaria, TB, nutrition and also HIV/AIDS is now better understood and applied (Gerein Mayhew and Lubben, 2003)

The traditional approach to ANC, which was based on European models developed in the early 1900s, it adopts that more antenatal visits are better in care for pregnant women. Frequent ANC visits were the norm, and women were classified by risk category to determine their chances of complications and the level of care they would need during pregnancy (Lincetto, 2006). In general, ANC programs in developing countries have been adopted from those in developed countries. These programs, however, have been poorly implemented and largely ineffective. In response, in 2001 the World Health Organization (WHO) designed and tested a focused ANC package that includes only counseling, examinations, and tests that serve an immediate purpose and have a proven health benefit. The WHO recommended reducing the number of antenatal care visits to four, and this has not been found to pose a risk to the health of mother or baby (Carroli et al., 2001).

"Focused ANC means that provider focus on assessments and action needed to make decisions, and provide care for each woman's individual situation."

Focused ANC, recognizes three things: First, ANC are a unique opening for early diagnosis and treatment of problems in the mother and prevention of problems in the new born with low cost. Second, the majority of pregnancies progress without complications. Third, all women are considered at risk because most complications cannot be predicted by any kind of risk categorization. Hence all women should receive necessary care and monitoring for complications that are focused (USAIDS, 2007).

The major goal of focused antenatal care is to help women maintain normal pregnancies through:

- 1. Identification of pre-existing health conditions
- 2. Early detection of complications arising during the pregnancy
- 3. Health Promotion and Disease Prevention
- 4. Birth Preparedness and Complication Readiness

#### **1.1 Rational and Justification**

"Fate has allowed humanity such a pitifully meager coverlet that in pulling it over one part of the world, another has to be left bare"

Rabindranath Tagore, who won the Nobel Prize for literature in 1913, uttered these words almost a century ago (WHO, 1988). These words can be clearly seen in disproportions in health of the population in developing and the developed countries; the most astonishing amongst these is doubtless the disparity in the number of maternal deaths (Hazarika, 2010).

Most of the maternal deaths occur overwhelmingly in the developing countries, where pregnancy complications are among the chief killers of women of reproductive age (WHO, 2005). A woman's death affects her family's well being and that of society as a whole. Her family is less able to care for it and forfeits any paid wages and all the unpaid labor she contributed to the household. Her death increases the chances her family will face poverty and malnutrition. Data shows that the death of an adult woman lowers household consumption significantly in the poorest households for at least a year (Greene and Merrick, 2005).

The Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) were established in year 2000 to focus the efforts of governments and development organizations to improve the health, education and well being of people in the most impoverished countries of the world. There were eight goals. One of the eight Millennium Development Goals; MDG5 was to addresses the public health and social problem of maternal mortality, defined as the death of a woman during pregnancy, childbirth or in the postpartum period. The target of the goal is to reduce maternal mortality by three-quarters the maternal mortality ratio between 1990 and 2015 (Bailey, et al., 2006). ANC coverage is one of the indicators for achieving the MDG 5.

An estimated 358,000 maternal deaths occurred worldwide in 2008, a 34% decline from the levels of 1990. Despite this decline, developing countries continued to account for 99% (355,000) of the deaths. Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia accounted for 87% (313, 000) of global maternal deaths. Eleven countries including Afghanistan, Bangladesh, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Nigeria, Pakistan, Sudan, and the United Republic of Tanzania, comprised 65% of all maternal deaths in 2008 (Bhutta et al., 2010). It has been estimated that 88–98% of these deaths are avoidable (De Brouwere Tonglet and Van Lerberghe, 1998). Adequate medical care including ANC, skilled birth attendants (SBA) during labor, and care in postpartum period can prevent 75% or more of these deaths (Vanneste et al., 2000).

Measuring maternal mortality remains a challenge. Identifying a maternal death requires accurate data on the deaths of women of reproductive age, including cause of death, pregnancy status and the time of death in relation to pregnancy or childbirth. These data are often missing, misclassified or underreported, particularly in low and middle income countries that lack fully functioning vital registration systems and where many women deliver at home (Bhutta et al. 2010).

A quarter of the world's population resides in five South Asian countries Afghanistan, Bangladesh, India, Nepal and Pakistan. The population is predominantly poor and rural, with both geographical and financial problems limiting access to maternity care (Hussein, et al., 2010). An estimated 109,000 maternal deaths toke place in these countries in 2008, making up 30% of global maternal deaths (Bhutta et al., 2010). There are major gender disparities: female literacy is below 50%, with two to three fold differences between men and women (UNICEF, 2008). This affects women's capacity to work outside the home, and to access and pay for ANC (Sharam, Sawangdee, and Sirirassamee, 2007). Doctors, midwives or nurses attend less than 50% of births in these countries. Many women deliver at home, with littler than 41% occurring in any healthcare facilities (UNICEF, 2008).

#### 1.2 Background

Pakistan is classified as a low-income country according to the Human Poverty Index (HPI-1), it ranks 65th among 102 developing countries. Although the Human Development Index (HDI) has improved from 0.346 in 1975 to 0.539 in 2006, this improvement has been gradual. Pakistan ranks 134 in the 2006 UNDP HDI and most of its social and development indicators rival poorly with countries of similar level of economic development (UNDP, 2006).

According to the Human Development Report 2006, more than 50% of the country's population is illiterate. Literacy rates of population 10 years and older have increased to 53% as compared to 45% in 2001/02. The net primary school enrolment ratio is 76 % for boys, but only 57% of girls attend school. While both female and male literacy, at 40% and 63% in 2004/05 respectively have increased, the gender gap has not shown any significant reduction. The literacy rate in urban areas is 69.7%, while in rural areas it is 41.6%, and only 26.6% among rural women.

Public health delivery system functions as an integrated health complex that is administratively managed at a district level. The state provide healthcare through a threetiered healthcare delivery system and a range of public health interventions. The former includes Basic Health Units (BHUs) and Rural Health Centers (RHCs) forming the core of the primary healthcare structure. Secondary care including first and second referral facilities providing acute, ambulatory and inpatient care is provided through Tehsil Headquarter Hospitals (THQs), and District Headquarter Hospitals (DHQs) which are supported by tertiary care from teaching hospitals. Maternal and Child Health Centers (MCHCs) are also a part of the integrated health system; however, the number of MCHC remains limited. The MCHCs, BHUs and RHCs provide basic obstetric care with community outreach programs offered through lady health workers (Fikree and Mir, 2006). Throughout the country, the vast network of health care facilities include 919 hospitals, 5334 BHUs and Sub- Health Centers, 560 RHCs, 4712 Dispensaries, 905 MCH Centers and 288 TB Centers.

The health profile of Pakistan is characterized by high population growth rate, high infant and child mortality rate, high maternal mortality ratio, and dual burden of communicable and non-communicable diseases (WHO and EMRO, 2007). Organized data on routine health is very bad in rural Pakistan (Jokhio Winter and Cheng, 2005). The World Health Organization's estimate of maternal mortality in Pakistan for the year 2008 was 14,000 with Maternal Mortality Ratio (MMR) of 260 per 100,000 live birth with low

estimates 140 and high estimates 490 (Bhutta, 2010). Data on Pakistan in 2007 approximately 64% of women who gave at least one live birth received ANC, 61% did so from a skilled provider, SBA assisted 39% of births. By the utilization of ANC varied from 44% in Sindh to a low of 23% in Balochistan. Of those women who did not use ANC for their most recent birth, 57% responded that institutional delivery was not necessary (The World Bank, 2007).

Despite an elaborate and extensive network of health infrastructure, the health care delivery system in Pakistan has failed to bring about improvement in health status especially of rural populations. Most of the surveys showed that utilization of Government health care services in Pakistan is little. The three most commonly cited reasons are, inaccessible facilities, lack of availability of medicines, and unhelpful staff. Many patients by pass the first level care facility, as they are dissatisfied with the quality of services being offered. Only 33% of the rural population is in access of 5km of health services. There are also significant provincial differences with access, being best in Punjab and worst in Sind (WHO and EMRO, 2007).

#### 1.3 Balochistan

According to the Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (MICS) 2004, MMR in Balochistan has been estimated to be around 600/100,000 live births, other sources suggests 700/ 100,000 live births (Yasir et al., 2009), maternal mortality for Balochistan is probably at least twice as high as the national average of Pakistan. In Balochistan only 26% women consulted a skilled health worker for ANC. This ranged from 53% in urban to 21% in rural areas (Government of Balochistan and UNICIEF, 2004). Data provided by Gynea & Obst. Department Bolan Medical Complex Hospital (BMCH) Quetta city in 2009; in unit A 19951 patient visited the OPD, 4862 came for the Antenatal visit, from which 1617 came with labor pain, 902 went back and only 715 were admitted in the labor room for delivery.

#### **1.4** Statement of the Problem

Antenatal care is the first contact element during labor process and for reducing complication during partum and post partum period. ANC care utilization in Pakistan is low even conferring to the regional average and in Balochistan it's even worse. This study tried to test an intervention to adhere the pregnant women for WHO recommended 4 times ANC. The title of this intervention model is Adherence to Antenatal care model (AAC) model its purposes was to adhere pregnant women to the WHO recommended 4 visits of ANC at a tertiary care hospital. There were 4 components of AAC model the first component is focused ANC, counseling sessions with the pregnant women, ANC service mobilization at the hospital and integration of community and hospital services through the community health workers (CHWs). The CHWs went to the pregnant women home before their schedule visits and encourage her to visit ANC 4 times.

#### 1.5 Objectives

#### 1.5.1 General objective

Was to assess the effectiveness of the AAC model on pregnant women's adherence to ANC services in two hospitals.

#### 1.5.2 Specific objective

- Number and percentage of ANC visits completed by pregnant women in two Hospitals after the intervention.
- To assess pregnant women's change in knowledge regarding ANC at tertiary care hospitals before and after the intervention.
- To evaluate pregnant women change in attitude towards ANC at tertiary care hospitals before and after the intervention.
- To appraise pregnant women change in satisfaction with ANC services at tertiary care hospital before and after the intervention.
- To establish association of 4 completed ANC visits with level of knowledge attitude and satisfaction of subjects after the intervention.

#### **1.6 Research Questions**

- Q1.What was the effect of ACC model on pregnant women adherence to ANC services at Boland Medical Complex Hospital?
- Q2.What was the level of knowledge of pregnant women regarding ANC services before and after the intervention at tertiary care hospital
- Q3.What was the pregnant women attitude toward ANC services before and after the intervention at tertiary care hospitals?
- Q4.Were the pregnant women at tertiary care Hospitals satisfied with ANC before or after the intervention?

#### 1.7 Hypotheses

#### 1.7.1 Null Hypotheses

There will be no change in Adherence of pregnant women towards ANC services in the intervention group and control group at tertiary care hospitals.

#### 1.7.2 Alternative Hypotheses

There will be a change in adherence of pregnant women towards ANC services in the intervention group as compared to the control group at tertiary care hospitals

#### 1.8 Study Area

Quetta is the provincial capital of Balochistan a province of Pakistan. Good health services are based upon certain indicators in the form of available medical facilities, preventive and curative measures. The total population in district Quetta in 2010 is estimated at 896,090 (World-Gazetteer, 2010). The first health service indicator, population per doctor indicates that it was 1 per 426 that show that the district situation is very poor in terms of availability of doctors. Similarly gauging from population per hospital bed criterion, we find that there is only one bed for 346 people in public sector.

There are 10 government hospitals working in the district with the total number of beds 2587. There are 18 dispensaries, 3 RHCs with 30 beds, 34 BHUs, and there are 13 Maternal and Child Health Center (MNCH) (Government of Balochistan, 2009). Only two government hospitals are providing Gynea and Obst services that is the Sandeman Civil

Hospital and Bolan Medical Complex Hospital. There are 41 private hospitals working in the Quetta city with total number of beds 961. There is no available date about the private sector involvement in health activities to demonstrate the number of registered cases as a percentage of the total population. Although Quetta city has the best health infrastructure in the province, still much is left to be desired. Quality of services in government hospitals and other health care institutions is a cause of concern. There is an increasing role for the private sector, but this sector caters most probably for the more well to do sections of society. There are 10 government hospitals for a population of around 896,000.



Figure 1 Map of Pakistan

#### **1.9** Conceptual framework

#### Independent Variable

#### **Dependent Variable**



**Figure 2 Conceptual Frame Work** 

#### **1.10** Operational Definitions

**AAC Model:** mean a intervention which aims was to increase adherence to 4 times ANC visits of pregnant women through counseling, service mobilization and community and hospital integration.

Education: level of education obtained by the women and their husbands

Occupation: refers to present job of the respondent,

Family Income: total income per month of all family members combined

Ethnicity: refers to cast the respondent belongs to

**Knowledge:** means the information and understanding the women have about the concept of ANC, importance of ANC, Schedule of ANC, services in ANC.

**Attitude:** means the degree of positive or negative views that women feel towards ANC services.

Accessibility: refers to the distance from the respondents house to the BMCH in kilometer mode of transportation, is it convenient or not and is the mode of transportation expensive or not.

**Waiting Time:** how long does a respondent have to wait before getting services in minutes and do they think it's long or not.

**Support from husband:** means the support from husband in term of information, encouragement, advice, and money and accompany women to ANC service.

**Satisfactions towards ANC services:** means perceptions of the respondents towards general satisfactions towards ANC service, technical quality of the service provider, interpersonal aspect of the provider with the respondent, communication between service provider and respondent, time spent with doctor and Access / Availability / continence of the ANC service.

**Past ANC visits:** mean the respondent past experience with ANC care during their last pregnancy. Did they attend ANC during their last pregnancy, how many times did they

attend, from where did they go for their ANC service and if no what where the reason for not attending ANC service.

Adherence to ANC services: Means attending ANC total number of 4 visits according to the guidelines of the WHO Focused ANC.

Counseling: Means a person-to-person interaction between then nurse and subject.

**IEC material:** Are printer pamphlet with information regarding ANC and pregnancy. It is used increasing awareness among pregnant women.

**Service Mobilization:** Mean improving ANC services at OPD by using existing services and making them more efficient and effective

**Reminder Services:** Means that community health workers will go to the subject's house encourage and remind them of their appointment with the hospital.

**Health Outcomes:** Mean that what complication the pregnant women develops during the pregnancy such as anemia, eclamptia, preeclampsia, hypertension, infections and gestational diabetes

**Effectiveness:** Refers to whether the intervention works in people who it has been offered. The effectiveness of this intervention is increase in Adherence of pregnant women towards 4 times ANC.

#### **1.11** Benefits of the study:

As the proposed study is to assess the efficacy of a model, at the end of the study hopefully following will be the benefits:

- 1. The model will be increase adherence to 4 times ANC visits, which will help pregnant women have a safer pregnancy.
- 2. Further this will serve as an evidence for future research to increase adherence to ANC services
- 3. The policy makers to increase utilization of ANC services can use the model as a tool.
- 4. This model will help develop relationship between the community and the hospital services in Quetta.

# CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Antenatal Care

Pregnancy is one of the most essential periods in the life of a woman, a family and a society. Extraordinary attention is therefore given to antenatal care by the health care systems of developed and developing countries. The aim of antenatal care is to prevent health problems in mother. The care provided needs to be appropriate and not excessive. New technologies need to be implemented continually, while older services need to be reconsidered. The care for each pregnant woman needs to be individualized based on her own needs and wishes (WHO, 2003). Antenatal Care is desirable for many reasons. It serves as an introduction to the healthcare system, allowing the physician to evaluate non-obstetric conditions such as immunization. It is cost-effective way of delivering long-term health benefit (Perry et al., 1988). It has a positive effect on the detection and treatment of obstetric conditions such as hypertension and diabetes (Rooney Carroli and Villar, 2001). Even in absence of disease, antenatal care leads to healthier pregnancies. Irrevocably, antenatal care has well documented benefits on maternal health (Kessner et al., 1973).

The creation of public health programs to improve the health of women and children has its roots in Europe at the end of the nineteenth century. With hindsight, the reasons for this concern look cynical: healthy mothers and children were seen by governments at that time to be a foundation for economic and political ambitions (WHO, 2005). Not until the late 1930s did the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland authorities adopted that all women should be asked for regular check-ups during pregnancy as an essential part of maternity care, some 30 years after the introduction of formalized labor and delivery care (WHO and UNICEF, 2003).

The idea of organized antenatal has been attributed to proposal made by Ballantyne by end of the 19 century (Ballantyne, 1905). Ballantine's initial interest in antenatal care was focused on the prevention of fetal abnormalities. He later recognized that antenatal care might also reduced maternal, fetal, and neonatal deaths (Browne, 1934). At mid-century, Eastman described a market reduction in risk for low birth weight among mothers who received "adequate prenatal care", as defined by having three of more visits (Eastman, 1947).

Kessner reported the next major development in antenatal care in the mid 1970s with Institute of Medicine (IOM). The three-factor health services utilization index proposed by Kessner et al. takes into account the month of pregnancy in which prenatal care begins, the number of visits adjusted for the gestational age at delivery, and the site of care (private vs. public clinical) (Kessner et al., 1973). In 1980, Gotmaker reported the results of an investigation using a modification of the Kessner/IOM index, suggesting that the relationship between prenatal care and infant mortality was restricted to the impact of prenatal care on low birth weight (Gortmaker, 1979). Gotmaker works, along with a 1985 IOM report as a national policy to reduce the risk of low birth weight.

In 1978, the WHO reinforced the idea that the pregnant woman should be monitored using the so-called risk approach, foreseeing the advantage of this managerial strategy based on the measurement of individual risk to improve maternal and perinatal outcome (WHO, 1978). However, the simple idea of screening for risk was subsequently challenged by the evidence that most obstetric emergencies were not recognized in advance, and in fact, occurred in a low-risk group of pregnant women. After this observation a shift occurred, resulting in a re-distribution of the resources toward the improvement of the quality and accessibility of the facilities that provide emergency obstetric care.

In 1987, the Safe Motherhood Initiative outlined a more complex strategy that considered integrating the risk approach with a functioning referral system. It was assumed that most deliveries could be handled safely at the community level provided that cases of obstetric emergency would be sent quickly and effectively to the appropriate health facility where operative delivery, Caesarean section and blood transfusion were all available. In 1997 again it was stated that every pregnancy faces risks and antenatal care programs should not spend scarce resources on screening mechanisms that attempt to predict a woman's risk of developing complications. The emphasis was placed on improving the accessibility, quality and utilization of emergency obstetric care (EmOC) facilities for women who develop complications (Zanconato et al., 2006).

#### 2.2 Comprehensive VS Focused ANC

The three basic components of comprehensive or traditional prenatal care are

- 1. Early and continuing risk assessment
- 2. Health promotion
- 3. Medical and psychosocial intervention and follow-up

Risk assessment comprises a complete history, a physical examination, laboratory tests, and assessment of fetal growth and well being. Health promotion consists of counseling to promote and support healthful behaviors, general knowledge of pregnancy and parenting, and information of proposed care. Intervention includes treatment of existing illness, modification of behavior, provision of social and financial resources, and referral to and consultation with other specialized provider (Rosen, 1989).

Traditional or comprehensive antenatal care uses a risk approach to sort which women are more likely to experience complications, and accepts that more visits mean better results for mother and baby. Though, many women who have risk factors will not develop complications, while women with no risk factors may do so (Vanneste, et al., 2000; Yuster, 1995). Using a risk approach with its more frequent visits, therefore, does not necessarily improve pregnancy outcomes. Furthermore, when antenatal care is designed using a risk approach, scarce health care resources may be devoted to unnecessary care for "high-risk" women who may never develop complication, and "low-risk" women who may never receive essential care, or may be unprepared to recognize or respond to signs of complications (Family Care International, 2007). Also, frequent visits are often logistically and financially impossible for women to manage, and are a burden on health care systems in developing country like Pakistan (Munjanja Lindmark and Nyström, 1996; WHO, 2002) Many countries adopted the traditional approach without taking

into account their country's available resources and without evaluating the scientific basis for specific practices (Maine, 1991).

A modernized approach to antenatal care emphasizes quality over quantity of visits (Kinzie and Gomez, 2004). This method, focused antenatal care, recognizes three key realities: First, antenatal care visits are a unique opportunity for early diagnosis and treatment of problems in the mother and prevention of problems in the newborn. Second, the majority of pregnancies proceed without complication. Third, all women are considered at risk of complications cannot be foretold by any type of risk categorization. Therefore all women should receive essential care and monitoring for complications that are focused on individual need (Maine, 1991).

#### 2.2.1 Focused ANC

The provision of high quality, basic antenatal care safe, simple, cost effective interventions and that all women should receive it helps maintain normal pregnancies, prevent complications and facilitate early detections and treatment of complications. The major goal of focused antenatal care is to help women maintain normal pregnancies through:

- Aimed assessments based on the women's individual situation to safeguard normal progress of the pregnancy and postpartum/newborn period, and to expedite the early detection of and special care for complications, chronic illnesses and other potential problems that can affect the mother and newborn.
- Individualized care to help sustain normal progress, incorporating preventive measures, supportive care, health messages and counseling.
- Empowering women and families for applicable and effective self care, and birth preparedness and complication readiness planning.

The World Health Organization (WHO) endorses four antenatal care visits for women whose pregnancies are progressing normally, with the first visit in the first trimester (ideally before 12 weeks but no later than 16 weeks), and at 24-28 weeks, 32 weeks and 36 weeks (Villar et al., 2001). Each visits should include care that is appropriate to the women's overall conditions and stage of pregnancy, aid her prepare for birth and care of the newborn. If problems and newborn are detected, the frequency and scope of visits are increased. Focused antenatal care visits generally include the intervention described below (Kinzie and Gomez, 2004)

2.2.2 Health promotion and disease prevention:

It is vital for providers and women to talk about the important issues affecting the woman's health, her pregnancy and her plans for childbirth and the postpartum and newborn period. Discussions should include how pregnancy progresses and how to prepare for birth; how to recognize danger signs, what to do if they arise where to get help; benefits of suitable nutrition and adequate rest; importance of good hygiene; risk of using tobacco, alcohol and drugs; benefits of child spacing; benefits of exclusive breastfeeding; and need for protection against STIs and HIV (USAIDS, 2007; WHO, 2002).

Focused antenatal care should contain the following preventive intervention for all pregnant women in ANC:

- Women should be given immunization against tetanus with tetanus toxoid,. Tetanus causes about 200,000 infant death every year and accounts for 8% of all neonatal deaths (UNICEF, 2002)
- Providing iron/foliate supplementations for Reduction of iron deficiency anemia. Iron deficiency anemia is the single most prevalent nutritional deficiency affecting pregnant women. In endemic countries, the prevention and treatment of hookworm infection and the prevention and treatment of malaria are also important interventions to reduce non-nutritional anemia. (LINKAGES, 2000).

In areas of disadvantageous conditions, diseases or nutritional deficiencies, these services can also be offered:

- Protection against malaria for women living in malaria endemic zone
- Prevention of STI/HIV AIDS and prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV
- Presumptive treatment for hookworm
- Protection against vitamin A and/or iodine deficiency
- Defibulation to remove the obstruction to the vaginal opening in type III female genital cutting.

#### 2.2.3 Early detection and treatment of complications and existing diseases

As part of focused assessment, the skilled provider talks with and examines the women for problems that may harm her health or that of her newborn. Complications such as severe anemia, infections, vaginal bleeding, pre-eclamptia/eclamptia, abnormal fetal growth and abnormal fetal position after 36 weeks may cause or be indicative of a life-threatening circumstances. And existing conditions, such as malaria or tuberculosis; HIV, syphilis and other STIs; and diabetes, heart disease, anemia or malnutrition need special treatment during the antenatal period (USAIDS, 2007; WHO, 2002).

#### 2.2.4 Birth preparedness and complication

Focused antenatal care includes attention to a woman's preparations for childbirth, such as getting the support she will want from her provider, family and community, and making arrangements for her newborn. The skilled provider and the woman should plan for the following (USAIDS, 2007; WHO, 2002):

- A skilled provider to be at the birth
- The site for the birth and how to get there
- Items needed for the birth, whether it will be at home or in a healthcare facility
- Money to pay for the skilled attendant and any needed medications

• Support after the birth, including someone to accompany the woman during the birth and someone to take care of her family while she is away

In addition, since 15% of all pregnant women develop a life-threatening complication and most of these complications cannot be predicted, every woman and her family must be ready to respond to such a problem. Every woman should have a plan for the following:

- A person designated to make decisions on her behalf, in case she is unable to make them
- A way to communicate with a source of help (skilled attendant, facility, transportation)
- A source of emergency funds
- Emergency transportation
- Blood donors

#### 2.2.5 Underlying principles of provision of care

There are some general principles that are integral to the provision of high-quality focused antenatal care for pregnant women (USAIDS, 2007; WHO, 2002). ANC Care should be:

- *Women-friendly:* The women's health and survival, basic human right and comfort are given strong importance. The woman's personal needs and penchants are also respected.
- *Inclusive of a women's partner or other family member:* Respect for the household decision-making process, making decision about care help to warrant a fuller and safer reproductive health experiences for the woman, her newborn and her family
- *Culturally appropriate:* Every culture has certain beliefs, rituals, taboos and practices surrounding pregnancy and childbirth. Cultural awareness,

competency and openness are crucial in a care relationship with a woman during this important period in her life.

- *Individualized:* by taking into consideration all of the information known about a women's current health, medical history, daily habits and lifestyle, household situation, cultural beliefs and customs, and other unique circumstances the skilled provider can individualize components of care for each women.
- *Part of the household-to-hospital continuum of care:* Many of the components of focused antenatal care can be provider at the community level; however, linkages with the formal health care system to imperative to ensure adequate training and supervision of community health workers and functional referral system.
- *Integrated*: focused antenatal care includes STI and HIV testing/ counseling, malaria detection and prevention micronutrient provision, birth planning, emergency planning and family planning counseling.

While effective antenatal care alone will not prevent global maternal and newborn mortality, the quality of care a woman receives during pregnancy plays a vital role in ensuring the healthiest possible outcomes for mother and baby.

#### 2.3 Utilization of Health care

It is generally accepted that use of health care services in any given society is a complex behavioral Phenomenon (Andersen, 1995). Behavioral scientists have explained individual behavior as a function of individual and societal forces as well as the interaction between individual and societal forces. It is difficult to identify which determinants are most persuasive in the decision to utilize health care. Culture, economics, access, perceptions, knowledge, belief in efficacy, age, gender roles, and social roles are all among the extensive list of factors affecting both the choice to seek health care and the assessment of which health care selection to utilize for prevention and treatment of illness (Andersen and Newman, 2005).

Hospital service and health care system are often used synonymously to deliberate the care provided to the patients. Hospitals have a fundamental role in any health care system but most often fail to meet the genuine needs and expectations of the patients. The important role of the hospitals can be conferred on the basis of outcomes, services and trust. The needed outcome against all the inputs is upholding the health and protecting from disability of the people. They are required to provide effective and efficient services to the patient (Farrington-Douglas, 2007).

#### 2.4 Model of health care utilization

One of the most commonly used frameworks for analyzing patient utilization of healthcare services is the behavioral model developed by Andersen, and others. It proposes that people's use of health services is a function of their predisposition to use services, factors that enable or impede use and their need for care. Model of health care utilization aspects at three categories of determinants (Andersen and Newman, 2005):

#### 2.4.1 Predisposing characteristics

This category represents the proclivity to utilize health care services. According to Andersen, an individual is more or less likely to use health services based on demographics, position within the social structure, and beliefs of health services benefits. An individual who believes health services are useful for treatment will likely utilize those services:

#### 2.4.2 Enabling characteristics

This category includes resources found within the family and the community. Family resources comprise economic status and the location of residence. Community resources incorporate access to health care facilities and the availability of persons for assistance

#### 2.4.3 Need based characteristics

The third category includes the perception of need for health services, whether individual, social, or clinically evaluated perceptions of need.



Figure 3 Utilization of Health care services

#### 2.5 Satisfaction

Dictionary definitions attribute the term "satisfaction" to the Latin root satis, meaning "enough". Something that satisfies will adequately fulfill expectations, needs or desires, and, by giving what is required, leaves no room for complaint. Two points arise from these definitions. First, a feeling of satisfaction with a service does not imply superior service, rather that an adequate or acceptable standard was achieved. Dissatisfaction is defined as discontent, or a failure to satisfy. It is possible that consumers are satisfied unless something untoward happens, and that dissatisfaction is triggered by a critical event (Avis Bond and Arthur, 1995). Secondly, satisfaction can be measured only against individuals' expectations, needs or desires. It is a relative concept: something that makes one person satisfied (adequately meets their expectations) might make others dissatisfied (falls short of their expectations).

Dansky and miles (1997) state that from a management perspective, client satisfaction with health care is important for various reasons; First satisfied patients are more likely to uphold a consistent relationship with a specific provider. Second, by identifying bases of patient satisfaction, an organization can address systems weakness, thus improving its risk management. Third, satisfied patients are more probable to follow specific medical regimens and treatment plans. Finally patient satisfaction measurement adds important information on system performance, thus contributing to the organization's total quality management.

When satisfaction is measured, individuals are presumed to rate or evaluate a service or a provider by comparing their personal subjective standards with their perception of the care received. The satisfaction they record is an attitudinal response to this value judgment, and is a subjective evaluation relatively than an objective measure. Their evaluation has been described as cognitively based and emotionally affected (Pascoe Attkisson and Roberts, 1983). It has been contended that satisfaction can be measured on a continuum that ranges from dissatisfaction at one end to very satisfied at the other, and that the position an individual occupies on that continuum is affected by the values, beliefs and expectations that they bring to the encounter, as well as by the features of the encounter itself (Ware and Davis, 1981).

#### 2.6 Conceptual Models of Satisfaction with health care

Several approaches have been used to try to recognize the factors contributing to satisfaction with healthcare. These range from theoretical studies that investigate how different factors co-vary to more detailed theoretical models that attempt to explain the relationship between variables on the basis of underlying principles. There is consensus amongst commentators that a complete definitive conceptualization of satisfaction with healthcare remains to be established, and that understanding of the process by which a user becomes satisfied or dissatisfied is incomplete. In this section, alternative approaches that have been advanced are summarized. A distinction is made between those based on expectations, those focusing on health service attributes, those emanating from economic theory, and those that are holistic in nature.

#### 2.6.1 Approaches based on expectations

This approach draws on market research techniques that are in turn based on psychological theories. In the simplest form, client (dis) satisfaction is viewed as a reflection of the difference between what is expected (E) and what is perceived to have been delivered (D); if D > E, the client will be satisfied, but if D < E, dissatisfaction results (Cottle, 1990).
Satisfaction arises either from positive experiences confirming positive expectation, or from positive experiences disconfirming negative expectations. Dissatisfaction arises when negative experiences disconfirm positive expectations, or when negative experiences confirm negative expectations. Disconfirmation of expectations affects perceived quality of care, and hence satisfaction (Gotlieb Grewal and Brown, 1994). The expectations approach encirclements an examination of how broader social psychological variables, such as beliefs, affect attitudes to and evaluations of healthcare (Linder-Pelz, 1982).

#### 2.6.2 Approaches based on health service attribute

Another approach that attempts to elucidate the concept of satisfaction emphases on customers' evaluations of health service attributes. These methods use reviews of the available literature or primary research methods to produce lists of critical features that affect satisfaction with healthcare. These features are often incorporated into factor or principal components analysis to validate definable dimensions to the care process.

Although important attributes of care may vary with the context of the investigation, in general they relate to three main issues: the characteristics of the provider, the features of the patient– practitioner relationship, and factors related to the structure and setting of healthcare delivery (Weiss, 1988).

# 2.6.3 Holistic approaches

Holistic approaches attempt to incorporate all influences on satisfaction and thus to offer a comprehensive framework for exploring interactions between variables that affect consumers' evaluations. Satisfaction is a multi-dimensional concept, derived from an evaluation of varied features of the care experience. The individual stimuli assessed by consumers include the actions, attitudes and appearance of human resources, the physical environment, and organizational aspects of care.

Satisfaction, or dissatisfaction, with attributes of healthcare affects subsequent behavior, with consequences for both the individual consumer and the provider. Although many other factors are also involved, satisfaction is linked with adherence to medical advice, self-care, and hence with health outcomes. When consumers have a choice of provider, it is also recognized that satisfied customers will use the service again and recommend it to others. Dissatisfaction, on the other hand, leads to changes of provider and adverse publicity (Ware and Davis, 1983).

This holistic approach is an endogenous model. The determination of satisfaction is a dynamic process involving two feedback mechanisms. First, individual attitudes are modified by experiences, which, in turn, alter expectations and value judgments in a way similar to the response shift phenomenon in health-related quality-of-life research (Sprangers and Schwartz, 1999). Secondly, healthcare delivery is affected by both consumers attitudinal responses articulated through feedback mechanisms and behavioral (utilization) responses such as changing provider (Marquis Davies and Ware, 1983).

# 2.7 Literature review Utilization of Antenatal care

The benefits of antenatal care may not be equivalent for all population subgroups. Many researchers have observed that the use and impact of prenatal care varies across socioeconomic, demographic, cultural, and medical risk groups, suggesting that these characteristics, including pre-existing health status, age education, poverty and environmental conditions, may modify the effect of prenatal care (Murray and Bernfield, 1988) Socio-economic inequities in maternal and child health are present throughout the world, irrespective of a country's level of health and wealth. Survey data from low- and middle-income countries show consistent pro-rich patterns in terms of antenatal and delivery care, access to health services and coverage of preventive and curative interventions (Boerma, et al, 2008; C. Victora, et al., 2010; Victora, 2007).

Many Studies have reported positive association between economic status and use of antenatal care services settings (Babalola and Fatusi, 2009; Coimbra, et al., 2007; Schillaci, et al. 2010) Age is often presented as a proxy for accumulated experience, including in the use of antenatal care services (Burgard, 2004; Hossain, 2010). Association between age and service utilization has also been inconsistent across studies. A study found that women more than 35 years old were less likely to use prenatal care but more likely to use delivery care compared with women aged 20–35 year (Sharam Sawangdee and Sirirassamee 2007). Another study conducted in Nigeria found relationship between age at the birth of the last child and use of antenatal care services appears to be curvilinear which indicates that use of antenatal services initially increases with age up to a threshold and decreases there after (Babalola and Fatusi, 2009).

In contrast, parity has been found to be negatively correlated with the use of antenatal care services. A study which compared unitization of antenatal care services between in Brazil observed that multipara variable was associated with use of antenatal care (Coimbra, et al., 2007). A study in Jamaica which compared under user of antenatal care observed that highly porous women were late attendees is which indicate that pregnancy is viewed as a natural process which they have been through before and see no need to come for antenatal care services (McCaw-Binns La Grenade and Ashley, 1995).

In some cases, even when a strong association has been reported, such as in the case of the positive relationship between education and the use of antenatal care services (Adamu and Salihu, 2002; Elo, 1992; Goldman and Pebley, 1994). A study in Bangladesh, showed that educational attainment, is a significant predictor that affects the maternal health care utilization. Regarding the use of antenatal care, women with education were substantially more likely to use ANC than women without education (Munsur Atia and Kawahra, 2010). Other studies carried out in developing countries also found education consistently a significant predictor of antenatal service utilization (Babalola and Fatusi, 2009; Iyaniwura and Yussuf, 2009; Pallikadavath Foss and Stones, 2004).

Rural and urban locations have been generally reported to be strongly and negatively associated with the use of antenatal care services (Bloom Wypij and Gupta 2001). Recent Studies carried out in India and Haiti also found that there are significant differences in the use of antenatal care among the urban and rural populations (Alexandre Saint-Jean and Crandall, 2005; Hazarika, 2010). A study conducted in Turkey did not found any significant difference in the use of antenatal care between urban and rural women (Celik and Hotchkiss, 2000).

Women's autonomy and position in society has been identified as a significant prerequisite for the ability to choose and attend professional care during pregnancy (Kempe, et al., 2010; Sharam, et al., 2007) Antenatal care and skilled birth assistants often, in women's perceptions works against their personal power and authority. This failure results in women failing to seek medical care when needed (Kempe, et al., 2010).

Specific knowledge about the risks of childbirth and the benefits of skilled attendance should increase preventive care-seeking, while recognition of danger signs and knowledge about available beneficial interventions should increase care-seeking for complications (Gabrysch and Campbell, 2009). Few studies consider health knowledge in utilization of services. Also, in Mali, women who are told about complications at antenatal care are more likely to give birth in a facility (Gage, 2007).

Perceived quality of care, which only partly overlaps with medical quality of care, is thought to be a key influence on health care seeking. Assessment of quality of services "largely depends on [people's] own experiences with the health system and those of people they know" (Thaddeus and Maine, 1994). Qualitative studies of service use in the literature report quality of care to be an important issue, with staff attitudes featuring prominently. Many women report dissatisfaction with rude, arrogant and neglectful behavior at health facilities and prefer the care of a TBA or relative (Kyomuhendo, 2003; Ambruoso Abbey and Hussien, 2005).

The obstacle effect of distance is stronger when combined with lack of transport and poor roads, and its disincentive effect is less pronounced if women have serious complications or the reputation of the provider is good (Gabrysch and Campbell, 2009). Even where facilities are conveniently located, they are underused if their quality is considered bad. Where people have the choice between several facilities, they sometimes travel further if the target facility is perceived to offer superior quality care ( Ofra, 2004; Gabrysch and Campbell, 2009). A study conducted in Indonesia found that women who live nearby antenatal care services within 5 kilometers had irregular antenatal care visits compared to those living further away (Effendi, 2008).

#### 2.8 Pakistan

Pakistan sits at the crossroads of the strategically important regions of South Asia, Central Asia and the Middle East. It has a 1,046-kilometre (650 mi) coastline along the Arabian Sea and the Gulf of Oman in the south and is bordered by India to the east, Afghanistan to the west and north, Iran to the southwest and China in the far northeast. Afghanistan's narrow Wakhan Corridor in the north separates it from Tajikistan, and it shares a marine border with Oman.

The territory of modern Pakistan was the site of several ancient cultures, including the Neolithic Mehrgarh and the Bronze Age Indus Valley Civilization, and has undergone invasions or settlements by Hindu, Persian, Indo-Greek, Islamic, Turco-Mongol, Afghan and Sikh cultures. Thus numerous empires and dynasties, including the Indian Mauryan Empire, the Persian Achaemenid Empire, the Arab Umayyad Caliphate, the Mongol Empire, the Mughal Empire, the Durrani Empire, the Sikh Empire and the British Empire, have ruled the area.

As a result of the Pakistan Movement led by Muhammad Ali Jinnah and India's struggle for independence, Pakistan was created in 1947 as an independent nation for Muslims from the regions in the east and west of India where there was a Muslim majority. Initially a dominion, Pakistan adopted a new constitution in 1956, becoming an Islamic republic. A civil war in 1971 resulted in the secession of East Pakistan as the new country of Bangladesh.

Pakistan is a federal parliamentary republic consisting of four provinces and four federal territories. With a population exceeding 170 million people, it is the sixth most populous country in the world and has the largest Muslim population after Indonesia. It is an ethnically and linguistically diverse country, with a similar variation in its geography and wildlife. Its semi-industrialized economy is the 27th largest in the world in terms of purchasing power.

Pakistan's post-independence history has been characterized by periods of military rule, political instability and conflicts with neighboring India. The country continues to face challenging problems, including terrorism poverty, illiteracy and corruption.

#### 2.8.1 Health System

Woefully inadequate health resources in terms of personnel, infrastructure and per capita health expenditure, contributing to high mortality and poor health outcomes, characterize Pakistan's health sector. The physician: population ratio (2000–09) was only 8 per 10,000 populations, and there were only 4 nurses and midwives (taken together) per 10,000 populations, and 6 hospital beds per 10,000 populations. Comparable average figures for lower Middle income countries are 10 physicians, 14 nurses and midwives and 39 hospital beds per 10,000 populations (Ravindran, 2010).

Pakistan has a centralized health care system. The Government takes responsibility to provide free Medical treatment to all citizens in need for health care services. There are 22 tertiary care facilities in Pakistan. They also provide sub-specialty care. These hospitals mainly provide curative services and to a limited extent some preventive services. The majority of the communities have access to a primary care facility within a radius of 5 km. While access to government health facilities is generally good, the utilization levels are low (RAD-AID, 2011). Several surveys have consistently shown that about 80% of clients seek care from the private sector and only 20% visit the government managed facilities for ambulatory care, which is indicative of considerable under-utilized capacity within the system (WHO and EMRO, 2007).

#### 2.8.2 Antenatal care

Pakistan's maternal mortality ratio in 2008 was 260 per 100,000 live births, both higher than the average for lower middle income countries (Bhutta, 2010). According to Pakistan demographic health survey 70% of pregnant women did not receive antenatal care, 23% receive antenatal care by doctor, 3% by nurse, lady health visitor or family welfare worker, and 4% by trained or untrained traditional births attendant (Nisar and Amjad, 2007). According to WHO country health profile 28% of pregnant women attended 4 or more antenatal care visits, where as the regional average is 44 %, 39 % of

the women were attended by a skilled provider during delivery where as the regional average is 59% (WHO, 2011). The inadequate antenatal care provided in Pakistan contributed to poor state of maternal health. A survey conducted at an hospital in Sind, Pakistan majority of women reported that they received care from lady health visitors, and very few from qualified doctors (Nisar and Amjad, 2007). A study conducted in Islamabad, which is the capital of Pakistan, found that antenatal care used in any of the previous pregnancy among women under study was 75.5%. Ignorance about the importance of antenatal care was reported as the main reason for under users (Alam Qureshi and Adil, 2004).

Women's lack of autonomy is a serious constraint to receiving needed care in Pakistan. Cultural restrictions on mobility are a significant barrier to women's access to antenatal care services. A study in urban settlement of Karachi found that 18% of women reported that they could go alone to a health care facility for antenatal checkup, while 82% reported that they were accompanied by a family member (e.g. mother in law, husband and mother)

## 2.8.3 Antenatal Care in Balochistan

Balochistan is the largest among Pakistan's four provinces, comprising 43 percent of land area of the country. But only six per cent of Pakistan's population or around 8 million people inhabit Balochistan. The Baloch make up 54.7 per cent of the population while 29 per cent are Pashtun. Despite being the richest province in terms of energy and mineral resources, Balochistan remains one of the most under-developed provinces.

In Balochistan, about half of women aged 15- 49 years with a live birth in the past three years consulted any health attendant or worker. This ranged from 74% in urban and 48% in rural areas during pregnancy, only 26% of women consulted a skilled health worker (Private or Government Hospital, Lady Health Visitor) for antenatal care. This ranged from 53% in urban to 21% in rural areas. In urban areas, private clinics are the preferred source for antenatal care 23%, followed by Government Hospital 17% and traditional birth attendant 17%.



Figure 4 UNCIEF MICS 2004: utilization of ANC in Balochistan

# 2.9 Theories

Programs and interventions that are based on theory are more likely to help projects meet its key targets. The ability to select relevant health promotion theories or models, and apply them in practice, is a key skill for public health. Researchers and practitioners use theory to investigate answers to the questions of "why," "what," and "how" health problems should be tackled. By pursuing answers to these questions, they elucidate the nature of targeted health behaviors. That is, theory guides the search for reasons why people do or do not engage in certain health behaviors; it helps pinpoint what organizers need to know before they develop public health programs; and it proposes how to devise program strategies that reach target audiences and have an impact. Theory also helps to find which indicators should be monitored and measured during program evaluation. For these reasons, program planning, implementation, and monitoring processes based in theory are more likely to succeed than those developed without the benefit of a theoretical perspective.

# 2.9.1 The Ecological Perspective: A Multilevel, Interactive Approach

The ecological perspective highlights the interaction between, and interdependence of, factors within and transversely all levels of a health problem. It highlights people's interactions with their physical and socio cultural environments. Two key ideas of the ecological perspective help to find intervention points for promoting health: first, behavior both affects, and is affected by, *multiple levels of influence*; second, individual behavior both shapes, and is shaped by, the social environment (Glanz and Barbara, 2005). To explain the first key concept of the ecological perspective, multiple levels of influence, McLeroy and colleagues (1988) identified five levels of influence for health-related behaviors and conditions (McLeroy, et al., 1988).

Concept	Definition
Intrapersonal Level	Individual characteristics that influence behavior, such as knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and personality traits
Interpersonal Level	Interpersonal processes and primary groups, including family, friends, and peers that provide social identity, support, and role definition

#### **Table 1 Ecological Perspective**

#### 2.9.2 Interpersonal Level

In addition to exploring behavior, individual-level theories focus on intrapersonal factors (those existing or occurring within the individual self or mind). Intrapersonal factors include knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, motivation, self-concept, developmental history, past experience, and skills.

#### Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB)

This theory provides a framework to study attitudes toward behaviors. According to the theory, the most important determinant of a person's behavior is behavior intent. The individual's intention to perform a behavior is a combination of attitude toward performing the behavior and subjective norm. The individual's attitude toward the behavior includes; Behavioral belief, evaluations of behavioral outcome, subjective norm, normative beliefs, and the motivation to comply (Ajzen and Driver, 1991).

Purpose of Theory:

- To predict and apprehend motivational influences on behavior that is not under the individual's volitional control.
- To identify how and where to target strategies for altering behavior.
- To explain virtually any human behavior such as why a person buys a new car, votes against a certain candidate, is absent from work or engages in premarital sexual intercourse.

If a person perceives that the outcome from performing a behavior is positive, she/he will have a positive attitude forward performing that behavior. The opposite can also be stated if the behavior is thought to be negative. If relevant others see performing the behavior as positive and the individual is motivated to meet the exceptions of relevant others, then a positive subjective norm is expected. If relevant others see the behavior as negative and the individual wants to meet the expectations of these "others", then the experience is likely to be a negative subjective norm for the individual.

Concept	Definition	Measurement Approach
Dehavioral intention	Perceived likelihood of	Are you likely or unlikely to
Denavioral intention	performing behavior	(perform the behavior)?
Attitudo	Personal evaluation of the	Do you see (the behavior) as
Aunude	behavior	good, neutral, or bad?
	Beliefs about whether key	
	people approve or disapprove	Do you agree or disagree that
Subjective norm	of the behavior; motivation to	most people approve
	behave in a way that gains	of/disapprove of (the behavior)?
	their approval	

#### **Table 2 Interpersonal Levels**

#### 2.9.3 Intrapersonal Level

At the interpersonal level, theories of health behavior assume individuals exist within, and are influenced by, a social environment. The opinions, thoughts, behavior, advice, and support of the people surrounding an individual influence his or her feelings and behavior, and the individual has a reciprocal effect on those people. The social environment includes family members, coworkers, friends, health professionals, and others. Because it affects behavior, the social environment also impacts health. Many theories focus at the interpersonal level, but this monograph highlights Social Cognitive Theory (SCT). SCT is one of the most frequently used and robust health behavior theories. It explores the reciprocal interactions of people and their environments, and the psychosocial determinants of health behavior.

## Social Cognitive Theory (SCT)

Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) describes a dynamic, ongoing process in which personal factors, environmental factors, and human behavior exert influence upon each other. According to SCT, three main factors affect the likelihood that a person will change a health behavior: (1) self-efficacy, (2) goals, and (3) outcome expectancies. If individuals have a sense of personal agency or self-efficacy, they can change behaviors even when faced with obstacles. If they do not feel that they can exercise control over their health behavior, they are not motivated to act, or to persist through challenges. As a person adopts new behaviors, this causes changes in both the environment and in the person. Behavior is not simply a product of the environment and the person, and environment is not simply a product of the person and behavior (Oldenburg Glanz and French, 1999).

Concept	Definition	Potential change
Reciprocal determinism	The dynamic interaction of the person, behavior, and the environment in which the behavior is performed	Consider multiple ways to promote behavior change, including making adjustments to the environment or influencing personal attitudes
Behavioral capability	Knowledge and skill to perform a given behavior	Promote mastery learning through skills training
Expectations	Anticipated outcomes of a behavior	Model positive outcomes of healthful behavior
Self-efficacy	Confidence in one's ability to take action and overcome barriers	Approach behavior change in small steps to ensure success; be specific about the desired change
Observational learning (modeling)	Behavioral acquisition that occurs by watching the actions and outcomes of others' behavior	Offer credible role models who perform the targeted behavior
Reinforcements	Responses to a person's behavior that increase or decrease the likelihood of reoccurrence	Promote self-initiated rewards and incentives

# **Table 3 Intrapersonal Levels**

# 2.10 The Intervention: Adherence to Antenatal care (AAC) Model

This model is directed at increasing pregnant women adherence to ANC services in a hospital setting.

There are 4 components of this model

- 1. Provide Focused ANC to the pregnant women
- 2. Increase knowledge and awareness through ANC counseling
- 3. Improve service quality related to ANC service
- 4. Integrating community and hospital service through community health workers

#### 2.10.1 Focused ANC

The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends four antenatal care visits for women, with the first visit in the first trimester (ideally before 12 weeks but no later than 16 weeks), and at 24-28 weeks, 32 weeks and 36 weeks. It is important to note that the basic component of the new WHO model is intended only for the management of pregnant women who do not have evidence of pregnancy-related complication, medical conditions or major health-related risk factors.

#### 2.10.1 Counseling

In the pregnant woman, the general purpose of counseling is to provide her with essential information regarding ANC services. To be specific, the counseling will help the pregnant woman to stay healthy through advising her about health promotion and also to know the common symptoms of health risks that may affect her or her baby. In addition, counseling will be an entry point to the family, in particular to her husband, so they also know the potential risks encountered during pregnancy and get prepared for them both psychologically and economically.

Counseling the pregnant woman is a process of two-way interpersonal communication in which she is informed about possible problems that she may encounter during pregnancy, and make her own decisions about how to respond. When there is a two-way discussion with good understanding of each other, it not only helps the woman to know the possible problems that she may encounter and when to take appropriate action, but it also establishes a trusting relationship with the health personal. Additionally, such two-way communication helps the woman to feel more comfortable and freely express her worries and needs the counselor.

The counseling will be done to both pregnant lady and husband or mother in law by a trained nurse who will be trained according to the guidelines of GATHER counseling. The GATHER approach to counseling--Greet, Ask, Tell, Help, Explain, and Return—has documented effectiveness in FP programs (Rinehart Rudy and Drennan, 1998). The guidelines have been adopted for ANC care. A colored, printed, folded paper with pictures and information on pregnancy, delivery and benefits of ANC services will be provided to the subjects. The IEC material will be developed by reviewing literature and by the guidelines of the professional in the field. The IEC material will be printed in local language for the better understanding of the subjects.

## 2.10.3 Integration

Another element of this model is to incorporate community services with hospital services. Reminder service will be provided at the subject home by the LHW and LHV who are working in communities for the government initiated health programs. They will visit the subject's home in their designated community and remind them of their appointment with the hospital. The LHW and LHV will be approached from there concerned offices through Ministry of Health Balochistan, Their support will be ensured and they will get finical incentives because this is not part their of job description.

Strategy	Targets	Activities	Outcomes
Counseling	Pregnant women Nurses	GATHER technique Trained counselor IEC Materials	Improved communication with subjects Increase in knowledge
Service Mobilizations	OPD Department Doctors Hospital Administration	One stop ANC Room Medicines Pregnancy test	Less waiting time improve in satisfaction
Integration	CHWs Pregnant women Hospital	Visiting pregnant women's home and to encourage remind them of ANC appointment Facilitate emergency	Creating links between hospital and community through community health services change in attitude with both services
Focused ANC	Pregnant women Doctors	Antenatal care interventions that prevent complications and facilitate early detections and treatment of complications.	Better health for the mothers and the unborn child

#### **Table 4 AAC model Intervention**

# CHAPTER III METHODOLGY

This chapter describes the materials and methods that were used in this study. These include study design, study site, study population and sample size, research instruments, content validity and reliability, data collection, data analysis, study process and ethical consideration. The purpose of the study was to increase adherence of pregnant women towards antenatal care services.

# 3.1 Study design

The study design of the purposed study was a Quasi-Experimental. In this study women who attend their first ANC were randomly selected from two different hospitals. One hospital subjected to intervention, while the other was used as a control, which provided routine antenatal care services. The main outcome of the intervention (adherence to ANC) was obtained by comparing the two groups at the end of the study period.

$$A = O1 X O_2$$
$$B = O_2 O_2$$

A = Intervention group
B = Control Group
O1 = Baseline
O2 = Follow up
X = Intervention

#### 3.2 Study site

The study was carried out at the department of Gynea & Obst Bolan Medical Complex Hospital (BMCH), and Sandman Provisional Hospitals (SPH) Quetta. Both these are located in Quetta city but are geographically separated. Both of these hospitals are tertiary care hospitals. The BMCH served as the intervention and Sandman hospital as control. Following is the BMCH and SPH basic infrastructure and flow of the patient regarding ANC:

#### 3.2.1 Basic Infrastructure BMCH

The teaching staff is composed of one professor, two asst. professors, two senior registrars, and one junior registrar in each unit. Each unit is also having one gynecologist as well. Other technical staff includes nurses for labor room and ward. In the labor room there are seven trained nurses and six student nurses and in the ward there are five trained nurses and four student nurses.

In each unit there are 40 beds in the wards. The department of Gynea & orbs also has one pharmacist. A total number of 18 supporting staff are also working on different shifts as supporting staff include aiya (TBA) and attendant for both ward and labor room.

#### 3.2.2 Flow of the patients BMCH

According to the data provided by the hospital on average 187 patients visits the OPD in the concerned department per day. Out of which 92 women visit for their ANC and on average 50 % of the pregnant women belongs from third trimester, 15 % are from second trimester and 30% from first trimester.

#### 3.2.3 Basic Infrastructure Sandeman Hospital

The staff is composed of one professor, two asst. professors, two senior registrars, and one junior registrar in each unit. Each unit is also having one gynecologist as well. Other technical staff includes nurses for labor room and ward. In the labor room there are nine trained nurses and seven student nurses and in the ward there are five trained nurses and four student nurses.

In each unit there are 35 beds in the wards. The department of Gynea & Obst also has one pharmacist. A total number of 15 supporting staff are also working on different shifts as supporting staff include aiya (TBA) and attendant for both ward and labor room.

3.3.4 Flow of the patients Sandeman Hospital

According to the data provided by the hospital on average 170 patients visits the OPD in the concerned department per day. Out of which 86 women visit for their ANC and on average 60 % of the pregnant women belongs from third trimester, 25 % are from second trimester and 35% from first trimester.

# **3.3** Study Population

The study population was the pregnant woman who visited the OPD for antenatal care at Gynea & Obst department of Bolan Medical Complex hospital (BMCH) Intervention hospital and Sandman Provincial Hospital (SPH) control hospital. The sample size were selected based on the following criteria's:

# 3.3.1 Inclusion criteria

- Subjects qualifying for the basic ANC according to WHO checklist.
- Subjects who visited hospital during first trimester.
- Subject who were local and resident of Quetta city and living here for the past 1 year and before
- Subjects who were proved to be pregnant after pregnancy test from BMCH and Sandman
- Subject who have been pregnant once before the current pregnancy and no more than 5 pregnancy
- Subjects who were 18 or above

# 3.3.2 Exclusion criteria

- Subjects who were not able to participate in study due to severe physical or mental disability
- Subjects who refused to participate in the study

- Subject who visited OPD late in their pregnancy i.e. after second trimester of their pregnancy
- Subjects who were Afghan refugees.

# **3.4** Sample size calculation

The sample size calculation for the proposed study was based on effect size of the interventions by expecting the outcomes. As the primary outcome of the interventions was to have four antenatal visits of the pregnant women at Bolan medical complex hospital Quetta for ANC, assuming that 30% of the subjects on routine antenatal care would have 4 visits and it will be of clinical relevance if we observed 40% effect size absolute improvement for those on the intervention group that is 60% of the subjects will have complete 4 antenatal visits (Chan, 2003).

For a two sided test of 5%, using formula

#### **Equation 1 Sample size calculation**

m (size per group) = c X 
$$\frac{\pi_1(1 - \pi_1) + \pi_2(1 - \pi_2)}{(\pi_1 - \pi_2)^2}$$

Where c = 7.9 for 80% power with at 5% level of significance,  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2$  are the proportion estimates

$$\pi_1 = 0.30, \, \pi_2 = 0.60$$

Thus

 $m = 7.9 x \{0.30 (1-0.30) + .60 (1-0.60)\} / (0.30-0.60)^{2}$ 

= 39.5 for each group

=40x2 = 80

With an additional 30% to cover drop out, a total of 100 subjects were recruited for the study.

#### **3.5** Sampling method

The representatives of the study population were enhanced by the use of methods of random sampling. Random sampling gives each of the units in the population targeted a calculable (and non-zero) probability of being selected. The technique used for randomization was Systematic Sampling: If a sample of size s is to be taken from a population of size n, then every n/s member of the population is tested.

The samples were selected from two hospitals. To test 4 sample that visit OPD for ANC in one day i.e. according to hospital on average 96 women attend ANC from which 30% (27) are from the first trimester

- We test  $27 \div 4 = 6$
- Starting number is selected randomly for 1-4
- For example if 1 then 7, 11, 15

## **3.6** Research Instrument

A structured questionnaire was used to collect the data. The questionnaire was prepared in English and was later translated in to Urdu language. The questionnaire compromised of 6 parts

#### 3.6.1 Socio demographic characteristic

This part consisted of questions about socio-economic status of the women such as age, women education, husband education, women occupation, husband occupation, monthly family income, family unit, ethnicity, and visit by community health worker.

## 3.6.2 Knowledge regarding ANC

This part included 12 negative and positive statements with total score of 12, 1 point for a correct answer and 0 point for an incorrect answer, and don't know. Knowledge is divided into three levels: high, moderate and low.

- Low knowledge =  $\leq 6 (60\%)$
- Moderate knowledge = 7-10(61%-80%)
- High knowledge =  $\geq 11 (81\% 100\%)$

Knowledge statements consisted of statements regarding importance of ANC (1,6,12), number of visits during ANC (3, 4,10), health care of ANC (2,8,9,11), and their misconceptions of ANC (5,7).

#### 3.6.3 Attitude towards ANC

Attitude part included 10 statements with a total score of 50 for measuring the attitude towards ANC services. These sentences consist of 5 positive and 5 negative Statements. Attitude had 3 aspects attitude towards service quality of ANC, towards self in context of ANC, and towards ANC in general. The responses for the statement was adopted from the linkert scale for assessing attitude strongly agrees, agrees, undecided, disagree and strongly disagree.

Attitude was measured in 2 categories positive and negative (Oppenheim, 1992). Mean score was calculated if the subjects cored high then the mean score they were placed in the positive attitude group and vice-versa.

## 3.6.4 Accessibility, waiting time and support for ANC

This part included question asking about the accessibility and support regarding ANC services. Distance from home to hospital, convenience, mode of transportation and travel cost from home to the hospital. Regarding social support from husband about ANC services a total of 6 statements with yes or no response were also included.

#### 3.6.5 Past ANC visits

This part Included questions asking about their past experience with ANC services. Number of visits during their last pregnancy 1, 2, 3, or 4 and where did they receive their ANC service and if they did not attend ANC what was the main reason.

### 3.6.6 Satisfaction with ANC services

Patient Satisfaction Questionnaire 18 (PSQ 18) was used to measure the satisfaction with ANC services (Grant, 1994). It aim was to measure satisfaction and guidelines across 7 dimension; General satisfaction, technical quality, communication, interpersonal aspect, time spent with Doctor, availability and convenience. Each item is

accompanied by five response categories (strongly agree, agree, uncertain, disagree, and strongly disagree).

Some PSQ-18 some items are worded so that agreement reflects satisfaction with antenatal care, whereas other items are worded so that agreement reflects dissatisfaction with antenatal care. Satisfaction is measured in two categories high satisfaction and low satisfaction with ANC. After item scoring, items within the same subscale will be averaged together to create the 7 subscale scores.

# 3.7 Validity and Reliability

The content validity is obtained by expert advice in the field including professors at Chulalongkorn and Bolan Medical Complex hospital. The reliability of the Knowledge and Attitude questionnaire was obtained through pre-test with 30 antenatal care patients attending the OPD in a different hospital. Cronbachs's alpha coefficient will be used to calculate the reliability of the questionnaire.

The patient satisfaction questionnaire has been adopted from the North American patient satisfaction questionnaire short form PSQ 18 (Linda Mackeigan and Larson, 1989) and from WOMB (Women's views of Birth) by Lindsay Smith antenatal satisfaction questionnaire (Smith, 1999).

# **3.8 Data collection**

After getting approval for the study from Pakistan Bioethics Committee, the researcher with the help of four research assistants at least with graduate qualification, trained by the researcher. The questionnaire was taken to the randomly selected control and intervention groups for the baseline. Before conducting the survey an informed consent was provided with each questionnaire to the participants of the study. Furthermore each participant was informed that there is no financial benefit in participating in this study. The date collection was done before the intervention before and at the end of the intervention.

#### **3.9 Data Analysis**

Data was analyzed, in aggregate, using The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, v17). Data was entered into SPSS, coded, cleaned and locked before any

analyses were made. Descriptive statistics such as percentage, mean, median and standard deviation (SD) was used to describe the general characteristics of the subjects.

The outcomes of the study were increase of subject's adherence to ANC services at tertiary care hospitals Mc-Nemar chi square was used to compare the number of visits completed. Paired sample t-test was used to analysis difference in knowledge, attitude and satisfaction score before and after the intervention.

### 3.10 Study Process

The study comprises of three phases. Phase 1 is the preparation for implementation. Phase II is the implementation process of AAC model and Phase III the monitoring of the model and the evaluation of the project.

#### **Phase I Preparation**

# 3.10.1 Permissions

After passing the proposal exam from College of Public Health Sciences Chulalongkorn University the Permission to conduct the research was granted by the Sectary Health Balochistan. After getting permission from up most authority in health department of Balochistan, permission to conduct research in the hospitals were granted by the Medical Superintended of both the hospitals. Later on the provisional coordinators of National Program of FP, & National Maternal Newborn and Child Health program (NMCH) granted the permission to use their community health workers (LHWs & LHVs) or the integration part of the model. The National Bioethics Committee of Pakistan conceded the ethical clearance. All the permission letters can be found in Appendix 10.

#### 3.10.2 Situation Analysis

A situation analysis study was conducted before the intervention in six hospitals in Quetta city. These hospital included two government hospital, two not for profit hospital, and two private hospital. The objective of this situation analysis was to find determinates of ANC utilization in Quetta city. This was a descriptive cross sectional study with 300 pregnant women attending ANC at outpatient department of the hospitals. The results revealed that the utilization of ANC in the government hospital was the lowest 41% and 80% for the private hospitals. Most subjects and their husband of the government hospital were illiterate. Their income was also low. The subjects from government hospitals also had low knowledge and attitude and more complications. After quantitative survey a formal qualitative discussions were carried out with senior gynecologist and obstetrician, general practitioners providing Gynea and obstetric services and public health officials to rule out further causes and conduct a study to increase ANC utilization. The survey also helped to improve the data collection tool the questionnaire.

#### **Phase II Implementation**

#### 3.10.3 Team Building

A team was built for the process of implementation of the AAC model. The team consists of four research assistants, two counselor, and two female Doctors, a female lab technician along with lab attendant working at the study site. The research assistance were selected on the bases of qualification at least graduation and must know any two of the four local languages. Counselors were selected among the nurses working in the hospital and can speak two of the four languages.

# 3.10.4 Workshop

Workshop was conducted with staff of the Gynea & Obst department of BMCH. This included doctors, nurses, admin staff, and supporting staff. The purpose of the workshop was project introduction. The presentation was about the components of the AAC model; it's benefit and what the researcher plans to do. It was a 30 minutes presentation with questions and answer round. The workshop lasted for about 1 and half hour. After the workshop refreshment were provided to the participant. This workshop was conducted at the conference room of BMCH. At the end of the workshop the Gynea & Obst were agreed to fully participate in the project.

## 3.10.5 Training of Team for AAC model

The objective of the training was capacity building of the project implementation team. The training was lead by the kind help of Dr. Rukshana Head of Community

Medicine BMCH, Mrs. Fatima expert in GATHER counseling technique, and Dr. Najma Associate Professor Gynea & Obst BMCH. The training format was lecture and discussion based. The training was aided by audiovisual presentation. Role-play technique was also used.

a) Training of the counselor about ANC

The purpose of this training to the counselor was to refresh their knowledge about ANC and pregnancy. Which included:

- 1. Important of ANC
- 2. Diet during pregnancy
- 3. Complications and avoidance in the first, second and third trimester
- 4. Birth preparedness
- 5. Family planning
- 6. Importance of Tetanus toxoid immunization

The training of the counselors was conducted for 3 hours daily for 3 day at the BMCH conferences room.

b) Training of the counselor for GATHER technique

The counselors were trained how to use that GATHER technique to counsel the pregnant women about ANC the modules of the GATHER training can be found in the Appendix E.

c) Training of the Research assistants;

I) The research assistants were given orientation to understand the questionnaire. They were trained for verbal translation of local language (Pashto, Brahvi, Baloch, Persian) if respondents were unable to understand the translated version of the questionnaire in national language Urdu.

II) Role-play technique was used for the exercise to conduct face-to-face interview with study subjects.

The research assistants training were conducted for two days at the hospital.

Step 4: Responsibility of the Technical Staff for AAC Model

a) Doctors:

The doctors were assigned for the following duties

- 1. General and Physical examination
- 2. To classify the subject for focused or comprehensive ANC.
- 3. Ultrasonography of the subjects
- 4. To provide services for emergency complications
- e) Laboratory staff

To collect the laboratory related samples from the subjects and tack to the hospital lab and bring the result report timely to the OPD.

#### f) Community health workers (CHW)

A meeting was conducted between the researcher and the concerned organization supervisors about the study and task of CHWs.

- 1. To Coordinate between study subject and hospital
- 2. To locate the subject
- 3. To provide reminder services
- 4. Facilitate subject during emergency

#### 3.10.7 Logistics and Procurement for AAC model

A separate room was allocated for the intervention process by the hospital administration at OPD of both hospitals. Medicine for general problems of focused ANC such as iron supplements, painkillers, vaccines, and vitamins complexes.

#### 3.10.8 Baseline

After the training of the team the next step was to select the study subjects. After the subject have register them self in the OPD of the hospital. The first step was to qualify the subjects according to inclusion/exclusion criteria like age, parity, residence, first trimester pregnancy. Then they were invited to join the study, if they were willing they had to sign informed consent form. Then the research assistant conducted baseline survey. After getting the baseline the doctors conducted a detailed medical checkup to for classifying if the subject were pertinent for the focused ANC. The above step was conducted in both the hospitals.

3.10.9 Intervention

a) Intervention at the hospital

After the final selection of the subjects following activity was carried out at the hospital:

- 1. First ANC visit
  - Clinical Examination
  - Clinically Sever Anemia? Hb test
  - Ob. Exam: gestational age estimation, uterine height
  - Gyn. Exam
  - Blood pressure
  - Maternal weight/height
  - Detection of symptomatic STIs
  - Urine test (multiple dipstick)
  - Blood type and Rh requested
  - Tetanus toxoid given
  - Fe/Folic acid supplementation provided
  - Recommendation for emergencies/hotline for emergencies
  - Complete antenatal card.
  - Counseling at the ANC room
- 2. Second ANC visit and Subsequent ANC Visits
  - Clinical Examination for anemia
  - Ob. Exam: gestational age estimation, uterine height, fetal heart rate
  - Blood pressure

- Maternal weight
- Urine test for protein
- Fe/ folic acid supplementation given
- Recommendation for emergencies
- Counseling
- 3. Third ANC visit add to second visit
  - Hemoglobin test
  - Tetanus toxoid
  - Instruction for delivery/plan for birth
  - Recommendation for lactation/contraception
- 4. Fourth ANC Visit add to second and third visits
  - Detection of breech presentation and referral for external cephalic version
  - Complete ANC card, recommend that it be borough to hospital

#### b) Intervention at the community

After the selection of the each study subject, they were traced with the coordination of the community organization and CHW at their households. Copies of the ANC cards were also provided to the concerned LHWs. Their assignment was to go to the subject's home before the schedule visit and remind them of their visit. If the subject didn't arrived the CHWs were contacted by the hospital to go back to the subject home and remind them second time. This was done whenever the subject's had their scheduled visits. Incase of any emergency during their subjects were told to contact their concerned CHWs. The CHWs were told to facilitate the subjects. The total number of community health worker that participated in study was 10. They were selected according to number of subjects living in there catchment areas.

In the control group hospital that is SPH the subject received care as usual. The subjects were only followed and the trained research assistants collected data two times at the first ANC visit and the last visit.

#### **Phase III: Monitoring and Evaluation**

Monitoring was done at two places at the hospital and the community. Main tool for monitoring was to observe and to fix issues.

#### 3.10.10 Hospital

In the hospital the researcher and Lady Medical officer from the hospital admiration were the key agents for monitoring of the AAC model intervention at the hospital.

<b>Responsible Person</b>	Tasks
Lady Medical Officer&	1. To monitor the team
Researcher	2. Logistics and supplies
	3. Finance
	4. ANC card
	5. Questionnaire

As the lady medical officer were working daily in the Gynea & Obst OPD they used to monitoring the regularity of the staff by checking the attendants register. The lady medical officers were also responsible for the medicines provided to pregnant women, laboratory test equipment, and ultrasound services. At the end of the day lady medical officer with the researcher regularly check the registers for details of services provided through ANC card, expenditures log, medicine log. The questionnaire filled by the subjects was also checked daily for any issues.

Researcher and two ladies health supervisor (LHS) were the key people in monitoring the community services.

<b>Responsible Person</b>	Tasks
Lady health supervisor&	1. Creating Link
Researcher	2. Locating Subjects
	3. Communication
	<b>4.</b> Timely Home visits

After the subjects were enrolled the data taken to the head office of the national program, from the data LHW or LHV working at catchment area was selected. Then LHS and the researcher went to the LHW and provided them with subject information and ANC card. Then the LHW would trace the subject and reported back to the lady health supervisor who will then contact the researcher. During the subject visit to the hospital she was asked if the LHW did visit her or not and when did she visit. If there were some issues the researcher would contact the concerned LHW through mobile phone.

# 3.11 Ethical Consideration

Ethical clearance was taken from the Pakistan Bioethics Committee ref no 4-87/11/NBC-71-/RDC/921. Prior to the any interview, a written consent will be obtained from each respondent. The subjects will be ensured to their rights to refuse and recline from the study at any time during the course of this study. Using code numbers the confidentiality and anonymity will be ensured. Permission letter for the study from the sectary health Balochistan can be found at Appendix N.



**Figure 5 Flow of the subject** 

\*Other reasons means that subject who didn't attended and were lost

# CHAPTER IV RESULTS

The Results consists of analysis and interpretation of the data and analysis obtained from 100 pregnant women attending ANC services during June and July 2011 at two tertiary care hospitals in Quetta City. Two groups pre and post data, study was used to assess the effectiveness of AAC models Intervention on adherence to 4 times ANC visits, change in knowledge, Attitude towards ANC and increase in satisfaction with ANC services. A structured questionnaire was used to collect the data the follow-up survey was conducted at the 4<sup>th</sup> visit. The subject who didn't attended ANC on their 4<sup>th</sup> visits they were traced at their residence by the community health workers. Eight subjects were lost due to other reason. However 88 subjects from 100 subjects were successfully followed. The results are presented in to two parts:

PART I is the general and socio economic characteristic of the subjects, accessibility, waiting time, support from mother and law and husband in both intervention and control group. These results were statistical analyzed to find out any significant difference between the intervention and control group at the start of the intervention.

PART 2 presents the results for the effectiveness of the AAC model. The effectiveness is assessed by the difference in proportion of pregnant women who completed 4 visits in intervention group compared to the control group. And also change in women's knowledge, attitude regarding ANC and change in satisfaction with ANC services. Further association of knowledge, attitude and satisfaction with 4 ANC visits is also reconnoitered.

# **PART I: Pre Intervention Characteristics**

# 4.1 General and socio economic characteristics

These parts demonstrate the frequency distribution of selected variables describing the backdrop of the subjects before the intervention. The table 6 shows the age, number of children, education of subjects and theirs husband's education, family income, family type and visits by community health workers. The groups are tested to find if there was any significant difference between the groups before the intervention.

All the subjects were between the ranges of 19 to 40 with the mean age of 29.85. The numbers of children were 1 to 5 within the range of the set inclusion criteria the mean number of children was 3.15. For educational attainment 36 (72.0%) subjects in the intervention group had no formal education and 33 (66.0%) subjects in the control group had no formal education.

Concerning husband education 36 (72.0%) subjects husbands in the intervention group had no formal education and 26 (66.0%) subjects in the control group had no formal education where as there 12 (24.0%) husbands in the intervention group had education level high school and above compared to 3 (6.0%) in the control. There was a significant difference p = 0.037 between group regarding husband education before the intervention.

Most of the subjects were housewife's 42 (84.0%) for the intervention groups and 48 (96.0%) in the control group. Most of their husbands were working in the private sector 28 (56.0%) in the intervention group and 35 (70.0%) in the control group. The average family income for the subjects was less then 10,000 PRK which is equivalent to 111 US \$, within groups 29 (58.0%) subjects in the intervention group and 35 (70.0%) in the control group had family income less then 10,000 PRK. Most of the subjects in both groups were Pashto speaking, 37(74.0%) subjects in the intervention group and 40 (80.0%) in the control group were living in a joint family system.

When asked which one of the community health workers (CHW) visits your home 42(84.0%) in the intervention group said non and 27(54.0%) in the control said of them. In the control group 19(48.0\%) said that they were visited by the Lady health Worker (LHW), there was a significant difference between groups p = .005 concerning CHWs.

	Intervention	Control	
Variables	n=50(%)	n=50(%)	<b>P-Value</b>
Age in Years			0.407
$\leq 20$	-	2(40.0)	
21-15	16(32.0)	19(38.0)	
26-30	19(38.0)	18(36.0)	
$\geq$ 31	15(30.0)	11(22.0)	
Mean $\pm$ SD = 29.85, Mini-Max (19-40)			
Number of Children			0.396
1	8(16.0)	4(8.0)	
2	9(18.0)	15(30.0)	
3	11(22.0)	10(20.0)	
4	10(20.0)	13(26.0)	
5	12(24.0)	8(16.0)	
Mean $\pm$ SD = 3.15 $\pm$ 1.32, Mini-Max (1-1)			
Women Education			0.625
No Formal Education	36(72.0)	33(66.0)	
Primary to secondary school	10(20.0)	14(28.0)	
High School and Above	4(8.0)	3(6.0)	
Husbands Education	~ /		0.037*
No Formal Education	23(46.0)	26(52.0)	
Primary to secondary school	15(30.0)	21(22.0)	
High School and Above	12(24.0)	3(6.0)	
Women Occupation			0.092
House wife	42(84.0)	48(96.0)	
Working women	8(16.0)	2(4.0)	
Husbands Occupation			0.238
Unemployed	9(18.0)	4(8.0)	
Government services	13(26.0)	11(22.0)	
Private services	28(56.0)	35(50.0)	
Family Income (US 1\$ = 92.0 PKR)		~ /	0.388
≤10,000	29(58.0)	35(70.0)	
11,000 to 20,0000	15(30.0)	12(24.))	
> 21,000	6(12.0)	3(6.0)	
Family Type			0.635
Joint Family	37(74.0)	40(80.0)	
Nuclear Family	13(26.0)	10(20.0)	
Visit By Community Health Worker		~ /	0.005*
LHW	6(12.0)	19(76.0)	
LHV	2(4.0)	4(8.0)	
Non	42(84.0)	27(54.0)	
Both	_	_	

Table 5 General and Socio Economic Characteristics of the subjects and significant difference

\* Significant Level at p-value = < .05, \*\* Fisher Exact Test was applied

Past ANC history of the subject are presented in table 7. Most of the subjects 39 (78.0%) subjects in the intervention group and 35 (70.0%) subjects in the control group attended ANC during their last pregnancy. Most of the subject 19 (48.7%) subjects in the intervention group and 17 (48.6%) subjects in the control group went for ANC 2 times. Only 1 (2.6%) subject in the intervention group attended ANC 4 times.

In both the groups 35 (89.7%) and 32 (91.4%) attended ANC at government hospitals. When asked from the subjects who didn't attend ANC what was the main reason for not attending ANC, 7 (63.3%) subjects in the intervention and 10 (58.8%) subjects in the control group said they didn't know about ANC. There was no significant difference between groups regarding past ANC.

Deat ANC	Intervention	Control	Р-
Past ANC	n=50(%)	n=50(%)	Value
ANC during last pregnancy			0.495
No	11(22.0)	15(30.0)	
Yes	39(78.0)	35(70.0)	
Number of Visits	( <b>n=39</b> )	(n=35)	0.560
1 visit	13(33.3)	10(28.5)	
2 visits	19(48.7)	17(48.5)	
3 visits	5(12.82)	8(22.8)	
4 visits	1(2.5)	-	
$\geq$ 5 visits	1(2.5)	-	
Place of ANC			0.631
Government	35(89.7)	32(91.4)	
Hospital	3(8.5)	3(8.5)	
Other	1(2.5)	-	
Reason for not attending ANC	( <b>n=11</b> )	(n=15)	0.237
Costly	2(18.1)	-	
Distance	1(9.0)	3(20.0)	
Don't know about ANC	7(63.6)	10(66.6)	
Waiting time	1(9.0)	2(13.3)	
No body to Accompany	-	-	

Table 6 Past histories of the subjects regarding ANC services in the intervention and control group and significant difference

Significant Level at p - value = <.05, \*\* Fisher Exact test was applied

## 4.3 Accessibility and waiting time

According to the table 11 32 (64.0%) subjects in the control group and 27 (54.0%) subjects in the control group were living within 5 km of the hospitals. In the intervention group 31 (62.0%) subjects and in the control group 29 (58.0%) subjects said that it was not convenient for them to go to the hospital for ANC. In the intervention group 41 (82.0%) subjects and in the control group 44 (88.0%) subjects used public transport. In the intervention group 36 (72.0%) subjects and in the control group 39 (78.0%) said traveling was expensive. Regarding waiting time most subjects 22 (44.0%) subjects in the intervention group and 27 (54.0%) subjects in the control group had to wait between 30 to 60 minutes before receiving ANC care where as in the intervention group 21 (42.0%) subjects said that they had to wait more the 60 minutes compared to 16 (32.0%) in the control group. There was no significant difference between groups regarding accessibility and waiting time.

	Intervention	Control	D V-L
Accessibility and waiting Time	n=50(%)	n=50(%)	P-value
Distance from home to hospital in Km			0.441
$\geq$ 15 km	6(12.0)	5(10.0)	
11-14 km	2(4.0)	6(12.0)	
6-10 km	10(20.0)	12(24.0)	
$\leq$ 5 km	32(64.0)	27(54.0)	
Is Travelling Convenient			0.838
No	31(62.0)	29(52.0)	
Yes	19(38.0)	21(42.0)	
Mode of Transportation			0.236
Public	41(82.0)	44(88.0)	
Private	4(8.0)	5(10.0)	
Other	5(10.0)	1(2.0)	
Is travelling Expensive			0.645
No	14(28.0)	11(22.0)	
Yes	36(72.0)	39(78.0)	
Average Waiting Time			0.553
$\leq$ 29 minutes	7(14.0)	7(14.0)	
30-59 minutes	22(44.0)	27(54.0)	
$\geq$ 60 minutes	21(42.0)	16(32.0)	
Waiting Time long			0.100
No	7(14.0)	8(16.0)	
Yes	43(86.0)	42(84.0)	

Table 7 Accessibility and waiting time regarding ANC for both the hospitals.

\* Significant Level at p-value = <0.05, \*\* Fisher Exact Test

## 4.4 Social support for ANC

According to table 11 there was no significant difference between groups concerning support for ANC by husband and mother in law. In the case of husband 30 (60.0%) subjects in the intervention group and 23 (46.0%) subjects in the control group said that their husband didn't support them by accompany them to ANC visits. For mother in law in the intervention group 11(22.0%) subject and in the control group 18 (32.0%) said that there mother in law supported them by giving them money for ANC. Regarding other components the supports was high from husbands and mother in law. There was no significant difference regarding support in the groups at the baseline.

Table 8 Social Support of Husbands and Mother-in Law regarding ANC in the groups

Social Support	Intervention n=50(%)	Control n=50(%)	P-Value
Husband			
Information	35(70.0)	31(62.0)	0.527
Encouragement	43(86.0)	39(78.0)	0.436
Advise	41(82.0)	38(76.0)	0.624
Money	37(74.0)	39(78.0)	0.815
Accompany	20(40.0)	27(54.0)	0.229
Mother In Law (Dead n=17)	(n=42)	(n=41)	
Information	35(70.0)	28(56.0)	0.268
Encouragement	35(70.0)	30(60.0)	0.534
Advise	34(68.0)	29(58.0)	0.624
Money	11(22.0)	18(36.0)	0.231
Accompany	26(52.0)	29(58.0)	0.672

\*Significant level at p - value = < .05, Fisher Exact test was applied
#### 4.5 **Knowledge, Attitude and Satisfaction Scores**

The subjects were tested using independent sample t test before the intervention to find any significant difference regarding knowledge, attitude and satisfaction. The score was added to find the mean score. There were no significant differences between groups at the baseline.

	Inte	ervention	Group	(	Control Gro	oup	
Variables	Mean	<u>95 %</u>	% CI	Mean	<u>95%</u>	<b>CI</b>	P- value
	(SD)	Low	Up	( <b>SD</b> )	Low	Up	
Knowledge	8.68 (2.03)	37434	1.41434	8.16 (2.45)	37434	1.41472	0.251
Attitude	27.92 (2.37)	75273	1.35273	27.62 (2.90)	75325	1.35325	0.537
Satisfaction	57.32 (5.76)	- 1.4780 8	2.47808	56.82 (4.05)	-1.48089	2.48089	0.617
*Significant	evel at n	- value -	< 05				

Table 9 mean differences of knowledge, attitude and satisfaction between groups at the baseline

Significant level at p - value = < .05

#### **PART II: Effectiveness of AAC model**

Comparing knowledge, attitude, satisfaction and number of completed ANC visits within groups and across groups, before and after, assessed effectiveness of the AAC model.

#### 4.6 Knowledge and attitude of subjects regarding ANC

Table 7 shows us the percentage of subject who answered correctly to knowledge items concerning importance of ANC, number of ANC visits, Health care of ANC and misconception towards ANC were determined as follow.

The knowledge part of the questionnaire is compromised of 12 statements regarding ANC 6 positive statements and 6 negative statements. It is further divided in to four groups Important of ANC which mean do they think should attended ANC and then number of visits how many times should they visits and when the should start care and

what are the benefits of attending ANC also what are some misconception about ANC. Details of the subject's response in each knowledge item are presented in the appendix k.

		Correct Answers					
#	Va anda da a Statamanta	Intervent	ion Group	Control	l Group		
	Knowledge Statements	Pre	Post	Pre	Post		
		N=50	N=45	N= 50	N=43		
1	Important of ANC	91.3%	95.5%	77.3%	83.7%		
2	Number of Visits during ANC	75.3%	91.8%	62.0%	69.7%		
3	Health Care of ANC	65.0%	92.7%	69.5%	73.8%		
4	Misconception towards ANC	67.0%	91.1%	49.0%	72.0%		

Table 10 Percentage of Knowledge of subjects regarding ANC before and after the intervention

Knowledge of ANC was divided in to three levels low, moderate and high. Subjects who scored between 1-6 were put into low knowledge, 7-10 in moderate and 11-12 high. According to table 8 we can see that most of subjects, before the intervention 64.0% in the intervention group had moderate knowledge however after the intervention 71.1% had high knowledge. In the control group we saw that there was change in knowledge from low to moderate but the number of subjects who had high knowledge remained same.

Knowledge Level	Interven	tion Group	<u>Contro</u>	ol Group
	Pre N=50	<b>Post</b> N=45	<b>Pre</b> N=50	<b>Post</b> N=43
Low	12.0%	2.2%	26.0%	9.3%
Moderate	64.0%	26.7%	56.0%	72.1%
High	24.0%	71.1%	18.0%	18.6%

Table 11 Knowledge Level of the subject before and after the intervention

Attitude towards ANC was measured with 10 statements each statement had 5 responses strongly agree (SA), agree (A), neutral (N), disagree (D) and strongly disagree (SD). There were total of five positive and five negative statements. The minimum score

was 1 and maximum score was 5. For negative statements SA was scored was 1, A = 2, N= 3, D=4 and SD was scored 5 and vice-versa. Each attitude component was divided in to two groups positive and negative by calculating the mean. The percentage of positive attitude of the subjects regarding service quality, self-view and ANC perception are show in table 8. The percentage of the subject who had positive attitudes has increased in both the groups. Details of the subject's response in each attitude item are presented in appendix L.

		<b>Positive Attitude</b>					
#	Attitudo Statomonto	Intervention	on Group	<u>Control Group</u>			
	Attitude Statements	Pre	Post	Pre	Post		
		N=50	N=45	N=50	N=43		
1	Service Quality view	32.0%	71.7%	28.0%	58.1%		
2	Self view	50.0%	71.7%	30.0%	58.1%		
3	ANC view	62.0%	84.4%	70.0%	53.4%		

Table 12 Percentage of positive Attitude of the subjects towards ANC

Attitude level of pregnant women towards ANC was also divided in two groups positive and negative attitude by calculating mean score. According to the table 10 most subject in the intervention group had negative attitude 58.0% and in the control group 60.0% subjects had positive attitude. After the intervention 71.1 % subject in the intervention group had positive attitude in the control group 65.1% had positive attitude.

Table 13 Percentage of subject with positive and negative attitude

	Interventi	on Group	<b>Control Group</b>		
Attitude Level	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	
	N=50	N=45	N=50	N=43	
Negative	58.0%	28.9%	60.0%	34.9%	
Positive	42.0%	71.1%	40.0%	65.1%	

Table 11 reveals the statistical change of knowledge and attitude towards ANC services before and after the intervention my comparing mean score. Mean score was calculated by adding up the statements. Wilcoxon signed Rand test was used to determine

the mean difference between the knowledge of the subjects before and after the intervention there was a significant difference in knowledge p = <0.001 for the intervention group. There was no significant difference between before and after in the control group. For attitude of the subjects Pair sample T-test was used to determine the mean difference in attitude before and after the intervention. In the intervention group there was a significant difference p = <0.001 however in the control group there was no significant difference.

	Inter	vention G	roup	Control Group		
Variables	Pre Mean (SD)	Post Mean (SD)	P-value	Pre Mean (SD)	Post Mean (SD)	<u>P –value</u>
Knowledge	8.68 (2.03)	11.15 (1.16)	<0.001	8.16 (2.45)	9.16 (1.54)	0.083
Attitude	27.92 (2.37)	38.42 (2.54)	< 0.001	27.62 (2.90)	28.23 (2.77)	0.095
* Ciamificant las	val <0.05					

Table 14 Mean differences in knowledge and attitude score within groups after the intervention

\* Significant level = <0.05

#### 4.7 Satisfaction with ANC Services

Satisfaction with ANC services was measured with 18 statements each statement had 5 responses strongly agree (SA), agree (A), neutral (N), disagree (D) and strongly disagree (SD). There were total of five positive and five negative statements. The minimum score was 1 and maximum score was 5. For negative statements SA was scored was 1, A = 2, N = 3, D = 4 and SD was scored 5 and vice-versa.

These statements tried to measure 7 aspects of satisfaction, general satisfaction (3,17), technical quality (2,4,6,14), communication (1,13), financial aspect (5,7), time spent with doctor (12,15), accessibility and convenience (8,9,16,18). Details of the subject's response in each knowledge item are presented in the appendix M.

		High Satisfactions					
#	Satisfaction statements	<u>Interventi</u>	ion Group	<u>Contro</u>	l Group		
	Saustaction statements	Pre	Post	Pre	Post		
		N=50	N=45	N=50	N=43		
1	General Satisfaction	48.0%	71.1%	56.0%	48.8%		
2	Technical Quality	46.0%	53.3%	32.0%	44.1%		
3	Interpersonal skills	60.0%	66.7%	46.0%	53.4%		
4	Communication	28.0%	80.0%	32.0%	51.1%		
5	Financial Aspect	50.0%	40.0%	44.0%	30.2%		
6	Time Spend with ANC staff	48.0%	66.7%	44.0%	58.1%		
7	Accessibility and convenience	44.0%	66.7%	60.0%	60.4%		
*Configuration of a malua < 05							

Table 15 Percentage of high Satisfaction of subject towards 7 aspect of satisfaction with ANC services

\*Significant level at p - value = < .05

In the intervention group regarding general satisfaction 48.0% women before the intervention had high satisfaction where as after 71.1% had high satisfaction. In the intervention group regarding technical quality of the staff 46.0% subjects had high satisfaction where at the posttest 53.3% had high satisfaction. For interpersonal skills in the intervention group 60.0% subjects had high satisfaction whereas after the intervention 66.7% subjects had high satisfaction.

For communication 28.0% subjects had high satisfaction where as the intervention 80.0% had high satisfaction. Regarding satisfaction with financial aspects of ANC 50.0% subjects had high satisfaction before the intervention compared to 40.0% after the intervention. For time spent with staff in the intervention group at the pretest 48.0% subjects had high satisfaction compared to 66.7% subjects after the intervention. Regarding accessibility and convenience of ANC service in the intervention group at the pretest 44.0% subjects had high satisfaction whereas after the intervention 60.7% subjects had high satisfaction.

Satisfaction of pregnant women towards ANC is divided in two groups high satisfaction and low satisfaction by the calculating mean score. Mean score is obtained by adding up the statements. According to the table 15 for overall satisfaction most subject

48 % in the intervention group had high satisfaction and in the control group 56.0% subjects had high satisfaction. However after the intervention 64.4% in the intervention group had high satisfaction.

	Intervent	ion Group	Control Group	
Satisfaction Level	Pre N=50	Post N=45	Pre N=50	Post N=43
Low satisfaction	52.0%	35.6%	56.0%	49.1%
High satisfaction	48.0%	64.4%	44.0%	51.1%

Table 16 Percentage of subjects with low or high satisfaction toward ANC services

\*Significant level at p - value = < .05, Fisher Exact test was applied

According to the table we find there was a significant difference p = <0.001 in the intervention group after the intervention the mean scored increased. We also find a significant difference p = 0.038 in control group however the mean score had decreased. Paired sample t-test was used.

	Inter	oup	Control Group			
Variables	Pre Mean (SD)	Post Mean (SD)	<u>P-value</u>	Pre Mean (SD)	Post Mean (SD)	<u>P –value</u>
Satisfaction	56.97 (4.13)	65.02 (3.28)	<0.001	56.72 (2.45)	54.65 (4.42)	0.038

Table 17 Mean differences in satisfaction score towards ANC

\*Significant level at p - value = < .05, Fisher Exact test was applied

The change in aspects of satisfaction before and after was analyzed by also using paired sample t-test. Table 12 shows us the results of change on aspects of satisfaction with ANC. There are significant differences in the intervention group in all aspects of satisfaction. There was no significant difference between group regarding aspects of satisfaction towards ANC in the control group.

	Inter	rvention Gr	oup	0	Control Gro	oup
Variables	Pre Mean (SD)	Post Mean (SD)	P-value	Pre Mean (SD)	Post Mean (SD)	<u>P –value</u>
General Satisfaction	6.26 (1.33)	7.84 (0.877)	< 0.001	6.55 (1.18)	6.48 (1.20)	0.798
Technical Quality	13.06 (1.85)	15.44 (1.27)	< 0.001	12.86 (1.33)	13.30 (1.48)	0.165
Interpersonal skills	6.97 (1.07)	7.71 (1.01)	0.002	6.62 (0.97)	6.72 (1.20)	0.647
Communication	6.24 (1.11)	7.82 (0.77)	< 0.001	6.30 (1.20)	6.34 (1.47)	0.242
Financial Aspect	6.51 (1.21)	7.17 (1.21)	0.009	6.34 (1.47)	6.06 (1.29)	0.326
Time Spend with ANC staff	6.57 (1.37)	7.53 (1.17)	0.001	6.37 (1.29)	6.79 (1.22)	0.175
Accessibility convenience	11.33 (1.47)	15.17 (1.58)	< 0.001	11.65 (1.74)	11.79 (1.64)	0.703

Table 18 Mean differences in 7 aspects of satisfaction towards ANC

#### 4.8 Adherence to 4 ANC visits

According to table 18 38 (76.0%) women attended ANC 4 times in the intervention group. In Control group 12 (24.0%) women attended ANC 4 times. Most of the subject 24 (48.0%) in the control group attended ANC 1 time. There was a significant difference p = <0.001 between groups regarding number of completed ANC visits.

		• •		
Variable	Intervention Group n(%)	Control Group n(%)	$\chi^2$	P-value
One ANC Visit	6(8.3)	24(48.0)	29.920	< 0.001*
Two ANC Visits	3(4.2)	12(24.0)		
Three ANC visits	3(4.3)	2(4.0)		
Four ANC visits	38(76.0)	12(24.0)		

 Table 19 Number and percentage of subjects who attended ANC visits and statistical difference between intervention and control group

#### 4.9 Factors associated with 4 times ANC visits during current pregnancy

According to the table 19, knowledge of subjects regarding ANC was statistically associated p = <0.001 with 4 times ANC visits. Sixty percent of the subject who had high knowledge attended ANC 4 times. Attitude of subjects towards ANC was also statistically associated p = <0.001 with 4 times ANC visits. Eighty six percent of Subjects who had positive attitude attended ANC less than 4 times. Satisfaction of subjects with ANC services was statistically associated p = 0.016 with 4 times ANC visits. For satisfaction 68.0% Subjects who had high satisfaction attended ANC 4 times.

Variable	< 4 ANC visits n(%)	4 ANC visits n(%)	$\chi^2$	P-value
Knowledge			29.920	< 0.001
Low Knowledge	1(2.6)	24(48.0)		
Moderate Knowledge	27(71.1)	16(32.0)		
High Knowledge	10(26.3)	30(60.0)		
Attitude			18.9533	< 0.001
Negative Attitude	33(86.8)	21(42.0)		
Positive Attitude	5(13.2)	29(58.0)		
Satisfaction			4.795	0.016
Low Satisfaction	21(55.3)	16(32.0)		
High Satisfaction	17(44.7)	34(68.0)		

Table 20 Association of knowledge, attitude, and satisfaction of subjects with 4 ANC visits or less then 4 ANC visits

\* Significant level is < 0.00

# CHAPTER V DISCUSSION

The discussion part consists of discussion regarding the effectiveness of the project and conclusion of the study and recommendation for further activates regarding this topic. First of there is a background of why this study was conducted.

Maternal health services in Pakistan are provided through all the tiers of the health system. In rural areas both primary and secondary health services including District Head Quarter Hospitals (DHQ), Rural Health Centers (RHC), Basic Health Units (BHU) and Maternal and Child Health Centers (MCH) are available. In addition, about 100,000 Lady Health Workers (LHWs), Lady Health Visitors (LHV), Community Mid Wives (CMW), Trained Birth Attendants (TBA) and Traditional Birth Attendants (Dai) are providing ANC services through both public and private health facilities.

In terms of the United Nations Development Program gender empowerment measurement, Pakistan lies 100th out of 102 countries, which shows that Pakistan has a long way to go with regard to the promotion of gender equality and empowerment of women. Having a subjugated position in the family, women and children need to seek the permission of the head of the household or the men in the family to visit health services (Bhutta, 2004). The poor social status of women and their lack of empowerment also contribute greatly to the lack of ANC utilization.

With other problem in Pakistan one of the most current is the political situation, because of which Pakistan have been the center point of terrorism in the region. From 2001 to 2010 35,000 people have been killed in terrorist activities. The delivery of social services has been disrupted due to the on-going conflict between administration and terrorist (Bari, 2012). This creates a disastrous health situation in these areas such as Quetta city. In Quetta city alone there have 65 terrorists acts in 2012 (Satp, 2012). This makes it very difficult to reach women with pregnancy intervention such as ANC at the communities.

Balochistan province in Pakistan is the most underdeveloped region with low literacy rates and strict cultural values. The tribal system has little space for women's freedom; has marriage system based on polygyny and exchange of women for marriages, their mobility is limited, as is their role in decisions regarding health care during pregnancy. In his book "The Cultural Context of Health: A Baloch Perspective" Doctor Naseer Dashti describes that the health seeking process among Baloch people begins with diagnosis at home by family members and problems are settled during family meetings that address all other family affairs. Family friends and neighbors also play an important role (Dashti, 2008).

In last two decades the government of Pakistan has developed several MCH programs, most of them in collaboration with donor agencies, to improve maternal health status. The federal government controls these with execution branches at the provincial and district levels. These programs include training and provision of equipment to Traditional Birth attendants; Lady Health Workers Program that provides essential primary health care services to communes at their doorstep by 100,000 trained LHWs, linking the health system and the masses.

In addition, government programs aim to provide services to women who for cultural reasons cannot leave their homes in rural areas. The maternal and neonatal child health (MNCH) program is supposed to provide enhanced access to quality maternal and child health and family planning services in the country. Despite these efforts by government of Pakistan a woman for whom pregnancy might become a dangerous event desires more. In Quetta city 14% women attended 4 times (Government of Balochistan and UNCIEF, 2010). ANC is an intervention that can help prevent complication during pregnancy leading to healthy mother and child.

In Quetta city women prefer to go the doctors for ANC rather then to a nurse or others (Government of Balochistan and UNCIEF, 2010). Less doctors work at primary health most of them are working in secondary and tertiary sector. The aim was to integrated community and primary health care through LHWs that are not utilized regularly.

The objective of this study was to evaluate the effectiveness of AAC model intervention on pregnant women's increased adherence to 4 times ANC visits. The other objectives were to investigate the change in knowledge and attitude about ANC care and to find out the change in satisfaction aimed at ANC services. This was a quasi-experimental study with two groups' pre and post. A total of 100 subjects participated in this study.

Before the beginning project a cross sectional study was conducted to find out factors associated with ANC utilization in Quetta city. The subjects were recruited from 6 hospitals in Quetta. The study finding showed that women who attended ANC during last pregnancy were lowest in the Government hospital. Knowledge and attitude of women were found to be associated with increase ANC utilization. Women who were visited by a community health worker attended ANC more times. The purpose of the situation analysis was to assess the local situation.

The purpose of the intervention was to provide Focused ANC, structured counseling, service mobilization, and using community services such as the LHWs and LHVs. The subjects were enrolled in the study at the first ANC visit; they were counseled at the ANC room the purpose of counseling was to provide them with knowledge related to pregnancy, complications, antenatal care, childbirth and also postpartum time. The AAC model room was specially allotted to the team by the hospital administration. Their necessary tests were also collected at the room and the medication required for each visits were given. This activity is part of the service mobilization component of the intervention creating a one-stop ANC services. This was done at each of the following visit.

After the subjects went back they were traced by the LHWs or LHVs at their home to provide them with reminders of their next scheduled visit. A communication channel was developed between the hospital and CHWs through mobile phones; if a subject was late for their schedule visit the hospital will call the concerned CHW to tell them the state of the subject.

The effectiveness of the intervention is discussed with the change in knowledge, attitude and their association with ANC and comparing it with other studies. Increase in satisfaction with ANC services and its effect on adherence to ANC visits are also discussed and compared with other studies. Finally the effects of community and hospital integration on number of completed ANC visits are also discussed.

#### 5.1 **Pre-intervention characteristics**

All the subjects were within the ages of 19 to 40. The average number of children for subject was 3 children's, which is adjacent to the current fertilely rate for Pakistan which is 3.17. The results show us that most of subjects didn't have any formal education. Most of the subjects were housewives; their husband's working for the private sector. The subjects had family income less then 10000 PRK per month that is about 111 US \$. Most of the subjects were living in joint family in Pakistan most of the people live in the same household even after marriage. Few of the subjects were visited by CHW during their last pregnancies. Around 70% pregnant women attended ANC services during their last pregnancy where as only 2 subjects attended ANC 4 times or more. Most of these subjects attended ANC at the government hospital. Major reason for not visiting ANC was that they didn't know about ANC.

Both the hospitals were within the 5km range of most of the subjects. Still most of the subjects didn't feel that it was convenient for them to go to the hospital. Main mode of transportation used to go the hospital was public transport. The subjects said that they had to wait in average 30 to 60 minutes to receive ANC services during their last pregnancies. Support from husbands and mother in law in the group was generally high although the husband support by accompanying their wife's to antenatal care was less, for mother in law financial support for ANC to the subject was not much.

At start of the study we found that was a significant difference in two characteristics of the subjects between the control group and intervention group. The difference was in husband education and by visits by the community health worker. Husbands in the intervention group had attained more education. In other studies husband education attainment have been found to be associated with ANC utilization however most of these studies were conducted were women also had more education and those studies reveled significant association of women along with their education in white collier communities with husbands education, women's education is also significant a factor (Kabir, et al., 2005; Pllikadavath, Foss, and Stones 2004).

Results from the situation analysis showed that husband education association ANC care utilization but overall utilization among respondents was 40% which is less then nation average which is 61%. Since the effect of husband education may not influence the outcome of the intervention. In the study there was also no significant difference in pregnant women attending ANC during their last pregnancy.

#### 5.2 Effectiveness of the AAC model

#### 5.2.1 Knowledge and Attitude

The use of maternal health services such as ANC is influenced by attitude and cultural belief and also health knowledge is a key factor that enables pregnant women to be aware of the benefits of attending ANC in order to use these services. An example of the Baloch culture neither bleeding in the ante partum nor postpartum periods caused alarm until the appearance of delirium or loss of consciousness. It explains why complications around obstetric bleeding do not usually lead to immediate action by women and her families to go to the hospital (Dashti, 2008).

Findings of this study reveled that the women exhibited significant improvement p = < 0.001 in knowledge regarding ANC. There was a significant association of knowledge with the number of completed visits in this study. In the slums of Karachi knowledge about dietary, danger signs, and emergency was significantly associated with ANC utilization (Nisar and Amjad, 2003). In a project in Balochistan by provided information on safe motherhood by pictorial booklets and audiocassettes, they found that women in the intervention group had twice the odd of receiving ANC. The booklet in this study covered topics, which were pregnancy, danger signs, delivery and postpartum (Midhet and Becker, 2010).

There was a positive change in the attitudes of the women who were part of this intervention. The change in attitude was in their perception of the how they felt about service being provided, and how they felt about them self in the context of ANC. The change in attitude was statistically significant p = < 0.001. Attitude also had a significant association with utilization of ANC. Poor relationship between patients rude and

unfriendly attitudes of the staff were major reasons women preferred not to be referred to some hospitals (Mathole, et al., 2004).

Effectiveness from an ability to impart health information to patients using interpersonal strategies is to known promote patient health. For example, communication between health providers and patients is improved by demonstrated concern, respect and empathy (Travaline Ruchunskas and D'Alonzo, 2005). Jargon-free communication promotes patients' under- standing of health information given by health professionals (US Departmen of Disease prevntion and Health promotion). Empathy enhances patients' adherence to behavioral and medical treatments (Dziopa, et al., 2009).

Some sort of counseling during the antenatal period has shown to have a significant effect on women knowledge and attitude during the antenatal period. A study found that counseling had significant effect on increasing knowledge, influencing attitude of women concerning pregnancy (Larsa Jennings, 2010). In a study from Indonesia discovered that group counseling in ANC had significantly influenced the knowledge and attitude about pregnancy, complication, safe birth and tacking care of the newborn (Nuraini and Parker, 2005).

#### 5.2.3 Satisfaction

Satisfaction is a complex concept. It involves both a positive attitude and affective response to an experience, as well as a cognitive evaluation of the emotional response (Ross, 1998). In fulfillment theory, patient satisfaction is a function of the outcomes of the experience. Discrepancy theories predict satisfaction based on differences between what is expected or desired and what is received.

There are at least three reasons why satisfaction surveys may provide valuable information. First, along with improved health status, satisfaction is an ultimate outcome of health care. Second, there are several dimensions of health services that patients can observe and evaluate, such as travelling distance, waiting time for an appointment, the physical environment and the interpersonal skills of the staff. Third, satisfaction surveys provide information about patient behavior (Grytten Carlsen and Saku, 2008). In this study 7 aspects of satisfaction were measured; general satisfaction, satisfaction with

technical quality, communication, interpersonal skills, financial aspect of ANC, time spent with staff, accessibility and convenience.

In the study there was a significant change  $p = \langle 0.001$  in the satisfaction with communication before and after the intervention. Reviewed studies suggest that effective communication exerts a positive influence not only on the emotional health of the patient but also on symptom resolution, functional and physiologic status and pain control (Stewart, 1995). Satisfied patients have shown to be more inclined to comply with recommended treatment and keep appointments, and less inclined to shop around for a doctor, than dissatisfied patients (Bleich Ozaltin and Murray, 2009).

There was also a statistical significant change  $p = \langle 0.001$  in satisfaction with the technical quality of the staff. Patients have more likely to be very satisfied with the quality of care they receive when the doctor provides better care than he usually does. Patients do, in fact, recognize and value quality care (Leonard, 2008). The care provider's skills regarding clinical and technical competence and friendliness have been associated with satisfaction in antenatal care (Proctor, 1998). Higher patient satisfaction may also lead to better patient compliance with treatment plans and improved clinical outcomes (Cohen, 2005).

Dissatisfaction with antenatal care has been associated with an insufficient number of antenatal visits (Sikorski, et al., 1996), long waiting times at appointments, lack of continuity of caregiver and of care content (Williams and Thomson, 1996), and lack of information and explanation (Fraser, 1999). Caregiver support during pregnancy not only affects satisfaction with care but also could reduce the likelihood of caesarean section and improve maternal psychosocial outcomes (Hodnett and Federicks, 2010) and have positive long- term effects on health outcomes.

#### 5.2.4 Community and Hospital integration

Since Alma Ata declaration 1978 using community health workers have been an effective component in interventions regarding many health related issues globally. The CHWs in Pakistan including LHWs are providing many activities on maternal and child Health. Each LHW covers 1000 population. They have been working in many different

health's related activities and also in promotion of ANC, safe delivery and postnatal care all over Pakistan. One of the goals of LHWs is to improve the utilization of public health facilities through client referrals.

However in Balochistan LHWs are covering half of the eligible individuals, they are seeing less clients per week and are referring clients more to a private hospital/clinic then their own health facility or government hospital (Oxford, 2009). In this study we also found that the percentage of women who in the past have been visited by a CHW was fewer. There was also a significant difference in the intervention group and control group at the baseline and hence due to this intervention the CHWs visited more and convinced family to make sure to send women to complete 4 ANC visits.

. The community health workers were one of the main components of this study. Subjects were located by the CHWs at their residence from the information provided by the hospital. Then CHWs went to their homes to encourage them, motivated them, and reminded that so they don't miss their appointment with the hospital. This helped create a relationship between the hospital and the pregnant women through the CHWs. The CHWs were from the same communities; they speak the same language, are from same ethnicity this had an influence on the subjects leading to positive attitudes towards ANC. This study found that there was significant difference p = <0.001 in the intervention group and control regarding number of completed visits. A framework of CHW Praxis and Patient Health Behavior have also suggested that that CHWs influence patient behavior by enhancing patients' confidence and their attitudes and values toward behavioral change (Pinto Silva and Soriano, 2012).

Evaluation report on a maternal heath program in 10 districts of Pakistan found that in the women's support group meeting which were formed by LHW in their areas had a definite impact on women health seeking behavior. There was a change in attitude towards attending ANC. The utilization for ANC also increased in these areas (Population Counsel and PAIMAN, 2010). Quetta city was not part of this project. In Africa they found that family and community involvement is crucial for healthy behaviors during pregnancy and has been shown to be a major determinant of use of ANC services (Lincetto, 2006). In Nepal establishing links between the community and the facility can increase utilization of services, including ANC (Manandhar, et al., 2004).

As focused ANC doesn't need special techniques and can be delivered through primary and secondary care through community health workers. The intervention was delivered through staff nurse and a general practitioner; currently Pakistan health system is providing doctors, nurses and community health worker at primary and secondary level. Thus the model can be implemented in secondary and primary level. The sustainability of any intervention relies on the commitment of the government that adopts an intervention for providing health services to the community. This intervention can be used as all the tires of the health system including tertiary, secondary and primary level by integrating community and hospital services.

#### 5.3 Conclusion

The main purpose of the study was to find the effectiveness of the AAC model intervention on adherence to 4 times ANC visits. There were two groups in this study one received the intervention package for other group it was caring as usual. A total of 100 subjects participated in this study. The questionnaire data was collected at two times at the first ANC visits and the fourth visits. Women who didn't attended the 4<sup>th</sup> visits the questionnaire was taken to their homes. Thirteen of the subjects were lost during the follow up 7 for the control and 5 for the intervention group. The other measurements of the study were knowledge, attitude and satisfaction. And their association with number of visits completed.

Pregnant women in their first trimester were enrolled in this study. They were counseled, their test were taken, medicine were provided and when they went back to their homes a community health worker would go to their homes and reminded them about their scheduled visit. This study hypothesized that the model would be effective on increasing Adherence to ANC. There was no significant difference in these groups before the intervention regarding knowledge, attitude and satisfaction.

Most of the subjects were within the age range of 19-40. The literacy rare was low in the subject and also in their husband similar to the country number. The average family income was around 112\$. Most of the subjects were housewife and their husband working for private services. Some subjects were not been visited by a CHW. The finding of the study revealed that women in the intervention group had attended ANC 4 times, significantly more from the control group. There was also significant change in women knowledge, attitude and satisfaction of the subjects.

Regarding Knowledge most of the subject did say that ANC was important but their information regarding how many visits should they attend, complications and about medical interventions was low. After the intervention there was a significant difference with the intervention group but there was no change in the control group. Knowledge was found to be statically associated with numbers of completed visits. This concludes that the women had better knowledge regarding ANC after the intervention, which influenced adherence to ANC.

Attitude of the subjects also increased in both groups. However the change in attitude in the intervention group was statically significant. In the initial analyses we found that attitude was associated with number of visits completed however after conducting regression analysis attitude was not associated with ANC. Obviously, knowledge and attitude are an intermediate point on any scale that seeks to evaluate the effectiveness of any care program. Knowledge and attitude are not independent of other factors particularly for utilization.

Where as satisfaction with health service has been an important determinant for utilization of health services. People who are not satisfied with the services would go less to these services. In this study there was significant difference in all aspects of satisfaction in the intervention group. After the intervention women were more satisfied with the technical quality of the staff, communication of the staff, time spent with doctor, accessibility and convenience. However there was decrease in satisfaction with the financial aspect of ANC. In this study there was no financial support provided to subjects for travelling, however the medicine, which they general would buy, were being provide free. The drop in financial aspect of satisfaction may be due to travel cost because the subjects attended ANC more times then the last pregnancies. This was not a statistical difference. In the control there was also statistical difference after the intervention. The satisfaction of subjects had fallen down during the 9-month period it may be because subjects that went to the other services didn't find these services satisfactory. This might be one of the reasons why ANC attendance was less in the control group. Satisfaction was associated with the number of completed visits endorsing that the increase in satisfaction with ANC services is due to the intervention, which led to increase in number of ANC visits at the hospital.

One of the key components of the intervention was to develop a link between hospital and home using community health services (CHWs). This was accomplished by the support of National Program for FP, PHC, PPIU Balochistan LHVs program and National Maternal New Born and Child Health (MNCH) LHWs program. And all the LHWs and LHVs who participated in the study. The subjects were traced at home they were encourage by the CHWs to go to the hospital for their scheduled visits. This helped developed a relationship between hospital and home through the CHW leading to adherence to ANC.

Counseling of the pregnant can increase knowledge of pregnant women regarding pregnancies and why to use ANC. Service mobilization can help change satisfaction with the services. And using community services helped develop trust at the hospital also effecting attitude and satisfactions. This concludes that the intervention was effective in increasing adherence to ANC services at Bolan Medical Complex Hospital by using existing services effectively and efficiently.

#### 5.3.1 Key Success factors of AAC model Intervention

**Regarding Community Services** 

 For success full intervention the support from the community health worker was important. Integrating hospital and community services through proper channel. Home visits increased satisfaction with both services. **Regarding Women** 

• Building relationship between the women and hospital through the channel of CHWs. Women received information from peers. Increasing knowledge of these women helped improve health behaviors.

Hospital

• Improving services at a hospital was beneficial for the patient's health. Capacity building of hospital staff should be conducted frequently. Monitoring of the staffs behavior with the patients is important.

### 5.4 Limitations

- In this study a true probability sampling technique was not used limiting our ability to make brooder generalization of the results. True probability sampling was not possible because we didn't have a list of subject from which subject could have been randomly selected, subject were enrolled at the OPDs of the hospitals however systematic sampling was used.
- Results of the effects of the intervention on the provider's sides weren't studied. The results were orientated only towards the subjects.
- Thirteen subject were lost to the follow-up some for more medical reason, some changed hospitals and because they couldn't be located. No tests were conducted to find difference between those who were lost and who completed the follow up.
- As both the hospital were located at the same city there was a probability of contamination between the groups. There were only these two hospitals, which have similar structure and were comparable. We found that only 5 subject were living within the same area in Quetta city. The influence of contamination on this study was little.
- It must be mention that this intervention might not have benefited the pregnant women's that are in the most need of this kind of intervention. Dude to current security situation in Balochistan assessing these women is difficult. But if these interventions reach these women it will be beneficial to the women and the child.

### 5.5 Recommendations

- As this study proves that building bridges between hospital and community by integrating services can improve utilization of ANC. A continuum of care should be establish for women during the pregnancy in Quetta city.
- Refreshment courses should be carried out from time to time to increase the capacity of the hospital staff and CHWs empowering them to work more efficiently.
- A channel of communication between the hospitals and the community health services should be strengthened for example through by using community health workers.
- The study can be replicated and implemented in other areas for promoting knowledge, attitude and satisfaction of ANC and to increase utilization of ANC services.
- To enable hospitals and community contribute resources willingly the study recommends that hospital and the community services should be transparent and accountable.
- The policy makers should use this as an evidence to develop strategies for improving utilization of ANC service among pregnant women.
- 5.6.1 Future Research suggestion
  - This research should be carried out in larger population for longer period of time get the outcome for subject health and newborn child health.
  - A research exhibiting the view of the caregivers such as the counselor, staff and the CHWS should be considered.
  - Husband and mother in law should be involved in this kind of intervention to gain further beneficial outcomes.
  - A randomized control trial can be the optimum study design test the effectiveness of any given intervention.

### REFERENCES

- Abou-Zahr, Lidia, C. W., and Tessa, (2003) <u>Antenatal care in developing Countries</u> <u>Promises, achivments and missed opportunity.</u> Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Adamu, Y. M., and Salihu, H. M. (2002). Barriers to the use of antenatal and obstetric care services in rural Kano, Nigeria. <u>Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology</u>, 22(6): 600-603.
- Ajzen, I., and Driver, B. L. (1991). Prediction of leisure participation from behavioral, normative, and control beliefs: An application of the theory of planned behavior. <u>Leisure Sciences: An Interdisciplinary Journal</u> 13(3): 185 - 204.
- Alam, A. Y., Qureshi, A. A., and Adil, M. M. (2004). Factors affecting utilization of Antenata Care among women in urban slum area of Islamabad. <u>RMJ</u> 29(2): 71-75
- Alexandre, P. K., Saint-Jean, G., Crandall, L., and Fevrin, E. (2005). Prenatal care utilization in rural areas and urban areas of Haiti. <u>Revista Panamericana de Salud</u> <u>Pública/Pan American Journal of Public Health</u> 18(2): 84-92.
- Ambruoso, L. D., Abbey, M., and Hussien, J. (2005). Please understand when I cry out in pain: women's accounts of maternity services during labour and delivery in Ghana. BMC Public Health 5(140).
- Andersen, R., and Newman, J. F. (2005). Societal and Individual Determinants of Medical Care Utilization in the United States. <u>Milbank Quarterly</u>: 83(4).
- Andersen, R. M. (1995). Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: does it matter? <u>J Health Soc Behav</u> 36(1): 1-10.
- Avis, M., Bond, M., and Arthur, A. (1995). Satisfying solutions? A review of some unresolved issues in the measurement of patient satisfaction. <u>Journal of Advanced</u> <u>Nursing</u> 22(2): 316-322.
- Babalola, S., and Fatusi, A. (2009). Determinants of use of maternal health services in Nigeria - looking beyond individual and household factors. <u>BMC Pregnancy and</u> <u>Childbirth</u> 9(43).

- Bailey, P., Paxton, A., Lobis, S., and Fry, D. (2006). Measuring progress towards the MDG for maternal health: Including a measure of the health system's capacity to treat obstetric complications. <u>International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics</u> 93(3): 292-299.
- Ballantyne, J. W. (1905). Manual of Antenatal Pathology and Hygiene. the Fetus. <u>The</u> <u>American Journal of the Medical Sciences</u> 130(6): 1092-1094.
- Banta, D. (2003). What is the efficacy/effectiveness of antenatal care and the financial and organizational implications? Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe Health Evidence Network report; Url www.euro.who.int/Document/E82996.pdf, accessed October 20, 2010.
- Bari, F., (n.a). <u>Gendered Perceptions and Impact of Terrorism / Talibanization in Pakistan</u> (Web Documen Report) Heinrich Boll Foundation : Url www.boellpakistan.org/downloads/Farzana\_Barifinal\_Report.pdf Retriced Retrived on April 20, 2012.
- Bhutta, Z., Chopra, M., Akelson, H., Berman, P., Boerma, T., Bryce, J. and et al. (2010). Countdown to 2015 decade report (2000-2010) taking stock of maternal, newborn, and child survival. <u>The Lancet</u> 375(9730) : 2032 - 2044
- Bhutta, Z. A. (2004). Perinatal and newborn care in Pakistan . In Z. A. Bhutta, <u>Maternal</u> and child health in Pakistan: challenges and opportunities (pp. 19-46).
- Bloom, S. S., Wypij, D., and Gupta, M. D. (2001). Dimesion of Women's Autonomy and the Influence on Maternal Health Care Utilization in a north Indian city. <u>JSTOR</u> 38(1): 67-78.
- Bleich, S. N., Ozaltin, E., and Murray, C. J. L. (2009). How does satisfaction with the health-care system relate to patient experience? <u>Bulletin of the World Health</u> <u>Organization</u> 87(4): 271-278.
- Boerma, J. T., Bryce, J., Kinfu, Y., Alexson, H., and Victora, C. G. (2008). Mind the gap: equity and trends in coverage of maternal, newborn, and child health services in 54 Countdown countries. <u>The Lancet</u> 371(9620): 1259-1267.
- Browne, F. J. (1934). Are we satisfied with the results of Antenatal care? <u>BMJ</u> Augest 4: 194 197.
- Burgard, S. (2004). Race and pregnancy-related care in Brazil and South Africa. <u>Social</u> <u>Science & Medicine</u> 59(6): 1127-1146.

- Carroli, G., Villar, J., Piaggio, G., Gülmezoglu, M., Mugford, M., Lumbiganon, P., et al. (2001). WHO systematic review of randomised controlled trials of routine antenatal care. <u>The Lancet</u> 357(9268): 1551-1564.
- Celik, Y., and Hotchkiss, D. R. (2000). The socio-economic determinants of maternal health care utilization in Turkey. <u>Social Science & Medicine</u> 50(12): 1797-1806.
- Chan, Y. H. (2003). Randomized Controlled Trials (RCTs) Sample Size: The Magic Number? <u>Singapore Med J</u> 44(4): 172-174.
- Cohen, J. R. (2005). Patient satisfaction with the prenatal care provider and the risk of cesarean delivery. <u>American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology</u> 192(6): 2029-2034.
- Coimbra, L. C., Figueiredo, F. P., Silva, A. A. M., Barbieri, M. A., Bettiol, H., Caldas, A. J. M., et al. (2007). Inadequate utilization of prenatal care in two Brazilian birth cohorts. <u>Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research</u> 40(9): 1195-1202.
- Cottle, D. W. (1990). <u>Client-centered service: how to keep them coming back for more.</u> New York: Wiley publishing.
- De Brouwere, V., Tonglet, R., and Van Lerberghe, W. (1998). Strategies for reducing maternal mortality in developing countries: what can we learn from the history of the industrialized West? <u>Tropical Medicine & International Health</u> 3(10): 771-782.
- Dashti, N. (2008). <u>The Cultural context of Health: A Baloch Perspective</u>. Quetta: Baloch Academy.
- Dziopa, Fiona and Ahern, Kathryn J. (2009) What makes a quality therapeutic relationship in psychiatric/mental health nursing: a review of the research literature. <u>The Internet Journal of Advanced Nursing Practice</u> 10 (1): 7-7.
- Eastman, N. J. (1947). The Newborn: Prematurity From the Viewpoint of the Obstetrician. Obstetrical & Gynecological Survey 2(3): 327-329.
- Effendi, R. (2008). <u>Factors Related to Regular Utlization Antenatal Care services among</u> <u>postpartum mothers in Pasar Rebo General Hospital Jakarta, Indonesia</u>. Faculty of Public Health, Mahidol University.
- Elo, I. T. (1992). Utilization of maternal health-care services in Peru: The role of women's eduation. <u>Health Transition Review</u> 2(1): 1-20.

- Farrington-Douglas, J. (2007). <u>The Future Hospital : The pregressive case for change.</u> London: Institute for Public Policy Research.
- Fikree, F. F., and Mir, A. M. (2006). She may reach a facility but will still die! An analysis of quality of public sector maternal health services, District Multan, Pakistan. Journal of Pakistan Medical Association 56(4): 156-163.

Family Care Internetional (2007). Safe Motherhood A Review: New Work.

- Fraser, D. (1999). Women's perceptions of midwifery care: a longitudinal study to shape curriculum development. <u>Birth</u> 26(2): 99-107.
- Gabrysch, S., and Campbell, O. (2009). Still too far to walk: Literature review of the determinants of delivery service use. <u>BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth</u> 9(34).
- Gage, A. J. (2007). Barriers to the utilization of maternal health care in rural Mali. <u>Social</u> <u>Science & Medicine</u> 65(8): 1666-1682.
- Gerein, N., Mayhew, S., and Lubben, M. (2002). A framework for a new approach to antenatal care. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics 80(2): 175-182.
- Glanze, K., Barbara, K. R., National Cancer Institutie (2005). <u>Theory at a Glance:</u> <u>a guide for health promotion practice (2<sup>nd</sup> edition)</u>: United States National Cancer Institute.
- Grant N. M. and Hays, R. D. (1994). The Patient Satisfaction Questionnair. Santa Monica: RAND.
- Goldman, N., and Pebley, A. R. (1994). Childhood Immunization and pregnancy-related services in Guatemala. <u>Health Transition Review</u> 4(1): 29-43.
- Government of Balochistan, (2004). Balochistan MICS Quetta: UNICIEF.
- Government of Balochistan, (2009). <u>Health Managment Information System (HMIS)</u> <u>Balochistan</u> Quetta: Provinical Health Directorate.
- Government of Balochistan, and UNICIEF (2010). <u>Balochistan MICS</u> (Unpublished) Quetta: UNICIEF.
- Grytten, J., Carlsen, F., and Saku, I. (2008). Services production and patient satisfaction in primary care. <u>Health Policy</u> 89(3): 312-321.
- Gortmaker, S. L. (1979). The effects of prenatal care upon the health of the newborn. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> 67(7): 653 - 660.

- Gotlieb, J. B., Grewal, D., and Brown, S. W. (1994). Consumer Satisfaction and Perceived
   Quality: Complementary or Divergent Constructs?. Journal of Applied Psychology
   79(6): 875-885.
- Greene, M. E., & Merrick, T. (2005). <u>Poverty Reduction: Does Reproductive Health</u> <u>Matter?</u> World Bank Health: Nutrition and Population discussion paper.
- Hazarika, I. (2010). Factors that Determine the Use of Skilled Care During Delivery in India: Implications for Achievement of MDG-5 Targets. <u>Matern Child Health</u> <u>Journal</u> 15(8): 1381-1388.
- Hossain, K. A. H. M. (2010). Utilization of Antenatal Care Services in Bangladesh: An Analysis of Levels, Patterns, and Trends From 1993 to 2007. <u>Asia-Pacific Journal</u> <u>of Public Health</u> 22(4): 395-406.
- Hodnett, E. D., and Federicks, S. (2010). Support during pregnancy for women at increased risk of low birthweight babies (Review). *In The Cochrane Library, Issue* <u>1. Update Software, Oxford. (6).</u>
- Hussein, J., Newlands, D., D'Ambruoso., Thaver, I, Talukdar, R., and Besana, G. (2010). Identifying practices and ideas to improve the implementation of maternal mortality reduction programmes: findings from five South Asian countries. <u>BJOG</u> 117(3): 304–313.
- Iyaniwura, C. A., and Yussuf, Q. (2009). Utilization of Antenatal care and Delivery services in Sagamu, South Western Nigeria. <u>African Journal of Reproductive</u> <u>Health</u> 13(3): 111-112.
- Jokhio, A. H., Winter, H. R., and Cheng, K. K. (2005). An Intervention Involving Traditional Birth Attendants and Perinatal and Maternal Mortality in Pakistan. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 352(20): 2091-2099.
- Kabir, M., Illiyasu, Z., Abubakar, I. S., and Sani, A. A. (2005). Determinant of utilization of antenatal care services in Kumbotso village, Northern Nigeria. <u>Trpical Doctor</u> 35(2): 110-111.
- Kempe, A., Noor-Aldin Alwazer, F. A., and Theorell, T. (2010). Women's authority during childbirth and Safe Motherhood in Yemen. <u>Sexual & Reproductive</u> <u>Healthcare</u> 1(4): 129-134.

- Kessner, D. M., Singer James, Carolyn, E. K., and Singeredward, R. S. (1973). Infant Death: An Analysis by Maternal Risk and Health (Vol. 1). Washington, D.C.: Institute of Medicine,.
- Kinzie, B., and Gomez, P. (2004). <u>Basic Maternal and Newborn Care: A Guide for skilled</u> providers. Balitmore: JHPIEGO.
- Kyomuhendo, G. B. (2003). Low Use of Rural Maternity Services in Uganda: Impact of Women's Status, Traditional Beliefs and Limited Resources. <u>Reproductive health</u> <u>Matters</u> 11(21): 16-26.
- Leonard, K. L. (2008). Is patient satisfaction sensitive to changes in the quality of care? An exploitation of the Hawthorne effect. Journal of Health Ecnomic 27(2): 444-459.
- Larissa Jennings, A. S. (2010). Antenatal counseling in maternal and newborn care: use of job aids to improve health worker performance and maternal understanding in Benin. <u>BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth</u> 10(75): 1-13.
- Linda, D., Mackeigan, and Larson, N. (1989). Development and Validation of an Instrument to measure Paitent Satisfaction with Pharmacy Services. <u>Medical Care</u> 27(5): 522-536.
- Linder-Pelz, S. (1982). Toward a theory of patient satisfaction. <u>Social Science & Medicine</u> 16(5): 577-582.
- Lincetto, O. (2006). Antenatal Care. In WHOs, <u>Opportunities for Africa's newborns:</u> <u>Practical data, policy and programmatic support for newborn care in Africa</u> (pp. 51-62). Geneva: WHO on behalf of The Partnership for Maternal Newborn and Child Health.
- LINKAGES. (2000). <u>Maternal Nutrition Issues and Interventions (A Computer-based</u> <u>Slide Presentation for Advancing Maternal Nutrition).</u> Washigton DC: Academy for Educational Development
- Maine, D. (1991). <u>Safe Motherhood Programs: Options and Issue</u>s Columbia University: Center of Population and Family health.
- Manandhar, D. S., Osrin, D., Sherestha, B. P., Mesko, N., Morrison, L., Tumbahangphe,K. M., et al. (2004). Effect of a participatory intervention with women's groups on

birth outcomes in Nepal: cluster-randomised controlled trial. The Lancet 364(9438): 969-979.

- Marquis, M. S., Davies, A. R., and Ware, J. E. J. (1983). Patient Satisfaction and Change in Medical Care Provider: A Longitudinal Study. <u>Medical Care</u> 21(8): 821-829.
- McCaw-Binns, A., La Grenade, J., and Ashley, D. (1995). Under-users of antenatal care: A comparison of non-attenders and late attenders for antenatal care, with early attenders. <u>Social Science & Medicine</u> 40(7): 1003-1012.
- McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., and Glanz, K. (1988). An Ecological Perspective on Health Promotion Programs. <u>Health Education & Behavior</u> 15(4): 351-377.
- Munjanja, S. P., Lindmark, G., and Nyström, L. (1996). Randomised controlled trial of a reduced-visits programme of antenatal care in Harare, Zimbabwe. <u>The Lancet</u> 348(9024): 364-369.
- Midhet, F., and Becker, S. (2010). Impact of community-based interventions on maternal and neonatal health indicators: Results from a community randomized trial in rural Balochistan, Pakistan. <u>Reproductive Health</u> 7(30): 1-10.
- Mathole, T., Lindmark, G., Majoko, F., and Ahlberg, B. M. (2004). A qualitative study of women's perspectives of antenatal care in a rural area of Zimbabwe. <u>Midwifery</u> 20(2): 122-132.
- Munsur, A. M., Atia, A., and Kawahra, K. (2010). Relationship Between Educational Attinment and Maternal Health Care Utilization in Bangladesh: Evidence from the 2005 Bangladesh House Hold Income and Expenditure Survey. <u>Research Journal</u> of Medical Sciences 4(1): 33-37.
- Murray, J. L., and Bernfield, M. (1988). The Differential Effect of Prenatal Care on the Incidence of Low Birth Weight among Blacks and Whites in a Prepaid Health Care Plan. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u> 319(21): 1385-1391.
- Nisar, N., and Amjad, R. (2007). Pattern of Antenatal Care Provided at a Public Sector Hosptial Hyderabad Sindh. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad 19(4): 11-13.
- Nisar, N., and White, E. (2003). Factors affecting utilization of Antenatal Care among reproductive age group Women (15-49 years) in an urban squatter settlement of Karachi. Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association 13(2): 47-53.

- Nuraini, E., and Parker, P. (2005). Improving Knowledge of Antenatal Care (ANC) among Pregnant Women: A Field Trial in Central Java, Indonesia . <u>Asia Pac J</u> <u>Public Health</u> 17(1): 3-8.
- Ofra, A. (2004). Utilization of maternal care in rural HeBei Province, the People's Republic of China: individual and structural characteristics. <u>Health policy</u> (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 70(2): 197-206.
- Oldenburg, B., Glanz, K., and French, M. (1999). The application of staging models to the understanding of health behaviour change and the promotion of health. <u>Psychology</u> <u>& Health</u> 14(3): 503 - 516.
- Oppenheim, A. N.(1992). <u>Questionnair Design</u>, Interviewing and Atitude measurment. London: Printer Publisher Limited.
- Oxford. (2009). <u>External Evaluation of the National program for Famly Planning and</u> <u>Primary Health Care</u>. London: Oxford Policy Managment.
- Pallikadavath, S., Foss, M., and Stones, R. W. (2004). Antenatal care: provision and inequality in rural north India. <u>Social Science & Medicine</u> 59(6): 1147-1158.
- Pascoe, G. C., Attkisson, C. C., and Roberts, R. E. (1983). Comparison of indirect and direct approaches to measuring patient satisfaction. <u>Evaluation and Program</u> <u>Planning</u> 6(3-4): 359-371.
- Paredes, L., Hidalgo, L., Chedraui, P., Palma, J., and Eugenio, J. (2005). Factors associated with inadequate prenatal care in Ecuadorian women. <u>International</u> <u>Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics</u> 88(2): 168-172.
- Population Councel and PAIMAN. (2010). <u>Measuring The Impact of the PAIMAN</u> project in Ten Districts in Pakistan. Islamabad: Population Council.
- Proctor, S. (1998). What Determines Quality in Maternity Care? Comparing the Perceptions of Childbearing Women and Midwives. <u>*Birth*</u> 22(2): 85-93.
- Pinto, R. M., Da Silve, S. B., and Soriano, R. (2012). Community Health Workers in Brazil's Unified Health System: A framework of their praxis and contributions to patient health behaviors. <u>Social Science and Medicine</u> 74(6): 940-947.
- RAD-AID. (2011). <u>Pakistan Country Report.</u> RAD-AID.org: http://www.radaid.org/UploadedFiles/RADAID%20Pakistan%20Health%20Care%20Radiology%20Rep ort%202011.pdf

- Ravindran, T. K. S. (2010). Privatisation in reproductive health services in Pakistan: three case studies. <u>Reproductive Health Matters</u> 18(36): 13-24.
- Rinehart, W., Rudy, S., and Drennan, M. (1998). <u>GATHER guide to counseling</u>. Population Reports. Series J: Family planning programs.
- Rooney, C., Carroli, G., and Villar, J. (2001). How effective is antenatal care in preventing maternal mortality and serious mobidity? An overview of the evidence. <u>Peadiatric and Perinatal epidimolody</u> 15(suppl. 1): 1-42.
- Ross, A. (1998). Maternal satisfaction with labour analgesia. <u>Baillieres Clin Obstet</u> <u>Gynaecol</u> 12(3): 498-512.
- Schillaci, M. A., Waitzkin, H., Carson, E. A., and Romain, S. J. (2010). Prenatal Care Utilization for Mothers from Low-Income Areas of New Mexico, 1989–1999. <u>PLoS ONE</u> 5(9): e12809.
- Services, P. H. (1989). <u>Caring for Our Future: The Content of prenatal care</u>. (No. NIH-Pub-90-3182). Washington DC: National Institues of Health (DHHS), Bethesda, Md.
- Sharam, S. K., Sawangdee, Y., and Sirirassamee, B. (2007). Access to Health: Womens Status and utilization of Maternal Health Services in Nepal. <u>Journal of Biosocial</u> <u>Science</u> 39(5): 671-692.
- Smith, L. F. (1999). The WOMB (WOMen's views of Birth) antenatal satisfaction questionnaire: development, dimensions, internal reliability, and validity. <u>British</u> <u>Journal of General Practice</u>, 49(449): 971-975.
- Stewart, M. A. (1995). Effective Physian-Patinet Communication AND Health Outcomes: A Review. <u>Can Med Assoc J</u> 152(9): 1423-1433.
- Satp. (2012). <u>Terrorism-related Incidents in Quetta 2012</u>. Retrieved 4 27, 2012, from Satp: http://www.satp.org/satporgtp/countries/pakistan/Balochistan/data/incident.html#.
- Sikorsiki, J., Wilson, J., Celment, S., Das, S., and Sameeton, N. (1996). A randomised controlled trial comparing two schedules of antenatal visits: the antenatal care project. <u>BMJ</u> 312(7030): 546-553.
- Sprangers, M. A. G., and Schwartz, C. E. (1999). Integrating response shift into healthrelated quality of life research: a theoretical model. <u>Social Science & Medicine</u> 48(11): 1507-1515.

- Travaline, J. M., Ruchinskas, R. and D'Alonzo Jr, G. E. (2005). Patient-Physician Communication: Why and How. <u>JAOA: Journal of the American Osteopathic</u> <u>Association</u> 105(1): 13-18.
- Thaddeus, S., and Maine, D. (1994). Too far to walk: Maternal mortality in context. <u>Social</u> <u>Science & Medicine</u> 38(8): 1091-1110.
- The World Bank (2007). <u>Pakistan country profile</u> (web document): International finance corporationUrl://enterprisesurveys.org/~/media/FPDKM/EnterpriseSurveys/Docu ments/Profiles/English/pakistan-2007.pdf retrived on November 5, 2010.
- UNDP. (2006). <u>Human Development Report 2006</u> New york : United Nation Devlopment programme.
- UNICEF. (2002). <u>UNICEF hails global progress towards elimination of maternal and neo-</u> <u>natal tetanus</u> (Press release). Geneva.
- UNICEF. (2008). The state of the childen. New York.
- USAIDS. (2007). Focused Anetnatal Care: Providing integrated, Individual care during pregnancy Washington : United States Agency for Intervention Development
- US Congress, Office of the Technology Assessment (1998) <u>Healty Children Investing in</u> <u>the Future</u> Washington DC: U.S Government Prinitng Office
- US Departmen of Disease prevntion and Health promotion. (n.d.). <u>A Promising strategy</u> <u>for clearly communicating health information and improving health literacy.</u> Retrieved April 5, 2012, from www.health.org:
- Vanneste, A., Ronsmans, C., Chakraborty, J., and De Francisco, A. (2000). Prenatal screening in rural Bangladesh: from prediction to care. <u>Health Policy Plan</u> 15(1): 1 10.
- Victora, C., Matijasevich, A., Silveira, M., Santos, I., Barros, A., and Barros, F. (2010). Socio-economic and ethnic group inequities in antenatal care quality in the public and private sector in Brazil. <u>Health Policy and Planning</u> 25(4): 253-261.
- Victora, C. G. (2007). Socio-Economic Differences in Health, Nutrition, and Population Within Developing Countries: An Overview. <u>JAMA: The Journal of the American</u> <u>Medical Association</u> 298(16): 1943-1944.
- Villar, J., Ba'aqeel, H., Piaggio, G., Lumbiganon, P., Belizán, J. M., Farnot, U., et al. (2001). WHO antenatal care randomised trial for the evaluation of a new model of routine antenatal care. <u>The Lancet</u> 357(9268): 1551-1564.

- Ware, J. E., and Davis, A. R. (1983). Behavioral consequences of consumer dissatisfaction with medical care. <u>Evaluation and Program Planning</u> 6(3-4): 291-297.
- Ware, J. J. (1981). How to survey paitent satisfaction. <u>Drug Intell Clin Pharm</u> 15(11): 829-829.
- Weiss, G. L. (1988). Patient Satisfaction with Primary Medical Care Evaluation of Sociodemographic and Predispositional Factors. <u>Medical Care</u> 26(4): 383-392.
- WHO. (1978). <u>Risk Approch for Maternal and Child Health Care</u>. Geneva: World Health Organizations offset publication No. 39
- WHO. (1988). From Alma-Ata to the year 2000 : reflections at the midpoint. Geneva Albany, NY : World Health Organization ; WHO Publications Center USA [distributor].
- WHO. (2005). The World Health Report: Make every Mother and Child count Geneva: The World Health Organization.
- WHO. (2011). <u>Pakistan Health Profile</u> Country Profiles (webpage) :http://www.who.int/ gho/countries/pak.pdf retrived on October 16, 2010.
- WHO and EMRO. (2007). <u>Health System Profile Pakistan</u>. Cario: Regional Health Systems Observatory World Health Organization.
- WHO and Department of Reproductive Health and Research. (2002). WHO Antenatal
   <u>Care Randomized Trial: Manual for the Implementation of the New Model</u>.
   Geneva: World Health Orgnization.
- WHO, and UNICEF. (2003). <u>Antenatal care in developing countries promises</u>, <u>achievements and missed opportunities an analysis of trends</u>, levels and <u>differentials</u> Geneva: World Health Organization
- WHO., UNICEF., UNFPA., and The World Bank. (2010). <u>Trends in maternal mortality:</u> <u>1990 to 2008</u> Geneva:.
- Williams, S., and Thomson, A. M. (1996). Women's satisfaction with antenatal care in a changing maternity service. Midwifery 12(4): 198-204.
- World-Gazetteer. (2010). <u>Population figures Quetta</u>. Retrieved April 05, 2010, from http://www.world-gazetteer.com/wg.php?x=&men=gpro&lng=en&dat=32&geo=-172&srt=npan&col=aohdq&pt=c&va=&geo=432780702.

- Yuster, E. A. (1995). Rethinking the role of the risk approach and antenatal care in maternal mortality reduction. <u>International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics</u> 50(Supplement 2): S59-S61.
- Zanconato, G., Msolomba, R., Guarenti, L., and Franchi, M. (2006). Antenatal care in developing countries: The need for a tailored model. <u>Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine</u> 11(1): 15-20.

APPENDICES

## **Appendix A: Consent Form**

### Sample no.....

#### **Responsible person(s) and institute:**

Mr. Sheh Mureed PhD. Public Health College of Public health sciences, Chulalongkorn University Bangkok 10400, Thailand

Date of consent

I (Mr. /Mrs. /Ms.)	
Home address	
Contact No .	

I have read and understood all statements in the **informed consent form**. I have also been explained the objectives and methods of the study, as well as possible risk and benefits that may happen to myself upon the participation in the study. I understand that the information the information will be kept confidential and my name will no be disclosed in any case. I shall be given a copy of the **signed informed consent form**.

I have the right to withdraw from the project at any time without any adverse effects upon myself.

Signature...... (Respondent) (Informant) .....

Signature...... (Researcher) (Mr. Sheh Mureed)

# **Appendix B: Questionnaire**

Sample No	
Hospital	
Date of Data collection//	
Number of Visit	
Name :	
Husband Name:	
Current Address:	
House Number Street	Road

Phone Number .....

## Socio Demographic Characteristics

Age (in years) .....

### a) Education

□1.No Formal Education	□ 2.Primary School	□3.Secondary School
□ 4.High School	□ 5.Graduation and above	□ 6.Islamic Education

### c) Occupation

□ 1.House wife	□ 2.Government Service	□ 3.Private service
□ 1.House wife	□ 2.Government Service	□ 3.Private serv

D4.Other (specify) .....
# d) Husband Occupation

□ 1.Unemployed	$\Box$ 2.Gov	vernment Service	□ 3.Private service
□ 4.Other (specify)			
e) Husband Educati	on		
□ 1.No Formal Educa	ation	2.Primary School	□3.Secondary School
□ 3.High School	□ 4.Gra	duation and above	
f) Family Income (n	nonthly)		
$\Box$ 1. Less then 10,000	) Rs		
□ 2. Between 10,000	– 20,000 Rs		
□ 3. More then 20,00	0 Rs		
g) Ethnicity			
□ 1.Baloch	□ 2.Pashto	□ 3.Bravi	□ 4.Sindhi
□ 5.Punjabi	□ 6.Other(speci	fy)	
h) Family			
□ 1.Joint family	□ 2.Nuc	lear Family	
I) Visited by commu	inity health wor	ker during last pregn	ancy?
□ Lady Health Work	er (LHW)		
□ Lady Health Visito	or (LHV)		
□ Non			
□ Both			

### Knowledge and Attitude regarding ANC services

#### a) Knowledge towards ANC

Please select only one appropriate answer according to you understanding.

T = True, F = False and DK = don't know

No.	Statements	Т	F	D K
K1	Women don't need special care during pregnancy			
K2	Health service provider such as doctors, nurses and midwives provides ANC to women.			
К3	Pregnant women should wait to receive ANC until they feel fetal movements during pregnancy.			
K4	Pregnant women should go to ANC clinic 4 times			
K5	Only primipara women should go to ANC clinics			
K6	Attending ANC can help prevent complication during pregnancy			
K7	Women who don't have any problem during pregnancy should not attend ANC			
K8	ANC is an chance to inform pregnant women about the danger signs and symptoms of pregnancy.			
K9	Pregnant women don't need to get tetanus toxide injections during ANC.			
K10	Pregnant women should attend ANC as soon as if they miss menstrual period.			
K11	There is no need of blood testing during pregnancy at ANC clinic			
K12	Mother going to ANC clinic services will know about the well being of the baby			

# b) Attitude towards ANC

Please select only one answer for each item

# SA = Strongly Agree, A = Agree, UD = undecided, D = Disagree, SD = strongly disagree

No	Statement	SA	A	UD	D	SD
1	I get good service during ANC	1	2	3	4	5
2	I feel peaceful when I have ANC	1	2	3	4	5
3	I am feared of blood tasting during ANC	1	2	3	4	5
4	I feel exhausted of long waiting time in ANC	1	2	3	4	5
5	I get good support from health personnel during ANC	1	2	3	4	5
6	Its make me relaxed when I meet other pregnant women at ANC	1	2	3	4	5
7	I don't get any helpful information from ANC visits	1	2	3	4	5
8	I feel shy when I get touched on abdomen by health personnel	1	2	3	4	5
9	I feel secure during ANC appointment	1	2	3	4	5
10	In the absence of complications I will not go for ANC	1	2	3	4	5

# Accessibility, waiting time and support

a) Distance (kilomete	ers)	
$\Box 1. \leq 5 \text{ km}$	□ 2. 5 – 10 km	□ 3. 11 – 15 km
□ 4. ≥15 Km		
b) Is it convenient for	r you to get to hospital?	
□1.Yes	□ 2.No	
c) Mode of transport	ation	
□1.Private transport	□ 2.Public Transport	□ 3. Other (Specify)
d) Do you think trave	eling is expensive?	
□ 1.Yes	□ 2.No	
e) Waiting time at Al	NC	
$\Box$ 1) Less then 30 minutes	ute $\Box 2$ ) 30 – 60 minutes	$\square$ 3) More then 60
minutes		
f) Is waiting time lon	g?	

 $\Box$  1.Yes  $\Box$  2.No

# g) Support by Husband

Select one answer for each question

No	Question	Yes	No
Sp1	Husband provides support to get ANC		
Sp1	Husband give you information about ANC services		
Sp3	Husband encourage you to follow the guidelines for ANC services		
Sp4	Husband advice you to go the ANC		
Sp5	Husband provided money for ANC		
Sp6	Husband accompanied for ANC		

# f) Support my mother-in-law

Select one answer for each question

No	Question	Yes	No
Sp1	Mother-in-law provided support for ANC		
Sp1	Mother-in-law give you information about ANC services		
Sp3	Mother-in-law encourage you to follow the guidelines for ANC services		
Sp4	Mother-in-law advice you to go the ANC		
Sp5	Mother-in-law provided money for ANC		
Sp6	Mother-in-law accompanied for ANC		

#### Past ANC visits

 $\Box$  3.Three Visits

#### a) Number of Children..... (Excluding this pregnancy)

#### b) ANC during last pregnancy (If no Skip to e)

 $\Box$  1.Yes  $\Box$  2.No

#### c) Number of ANC visits

 $\Box$  1.One Visit  $\Box$  2.Two Visits

 $\Box$  4.Four visits

#### d) Place of ANC

□1.Government Hospital

□2.Private Hospital

□ 3. Other (Specify) .....

#### e) Reason for not attending ANC

□ 1.Costly□ 2.Far from home□ 3.Don't know about antenatal care□ 4.Have to wait too much□ 5. Nobody to accompany tohospital□ 6.Others (specify).....

 $\Box$  5.Five visits or more

#### d) Perceived problems/complication during last pregnancy

Complications	Yes	NO
Anemia	□Yes	$\square$ No
Hypertension	□Yes	□ No
Eclamptia	□Yes	$\square$ No
Abortion	□Yes	$\square$ No
Fibroids	□Yes	□ No
Infections	□Yes	□ No
Hemorrhoids	□Yes	□ No
Anal Fissure	□Yes	□ No

# Satisfaction with ANC services

# How strongly do you AGREE or DISAGREE with each of the following statements

	Statements	Strongly Agree	Agree	Uncertain	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
1.	Health personal are good about explaining the reason for medical test for ANC	1	2	3	4	5
2.	I think the hospital has everything needed to provide ANC services	1	2	3	4	5
3.	The ANC services I have been receiving is just about perfect	1	2	3	4	5
4.	Sometimes Health personal make me wonder if their diagnosis is correct	1	2	3	4	5
5.	I feel confident that I can get the ANC service without being set back financially	1	2	3	4	5
6.	When I go for ANC they are careful to check everything when treating me and examining me	1	2	3	4	5
7.	I have to pay more for ANC service than I can afford	1	2	3	4	5
8.	I have easy access to the ANC services I need	1	2	3	4	5
9.	Where I get ANC services, people have to wait too long	1	2	3	4	5
10.	Health personal act too businesslike and impersonal towards me	1	2	3	4	5
11.	Health personal treat me in a very friendly and courteous manner	1	2	3	4	5
12	Those who provide my ANC sometimes hurry to much when the	1	2	3	4	5
13.	Health personal sometimes ignore what I tell them	1	2	3	4	5
14.	I have some doubts about the ability of the Health personal who provide ANC service	1	2	3	4	5
15.	Health personal usually spend plenty of time with me	1	2	3	4	5
16.	I find it hard to get an appointment for ANC service right away	1	2	3	4	5
17	I am dissatisfied with some things about the ANC service I receive	1	2	3	4	5
18	I am able to get ANC whenever I needed it	1	2	3	4	5

# Appendix C: Time frame and Budget

Project procedure	S	0	N	D	J	F	Μ	A	Μ	J	J	А	S	0	Ν	D	J	F	Μ	А	Μ
	e	c	0	e	a	e	a	р	a	u	u	u	e	c	0	e	a	e	a	р	a
	p	t	V 1	C	n 1	b	r	r	у 1	n 1	1	g 1	p 1	t	V 1	C	n 1	b	r	r 1	y 1
	$1 \\ 0$	$1 \\ 0$	$1 \\ 0$	1 0	1 1	1	1 1	$\frac{1}{2}$	1	1 2	$\frac{1}{2}$	1									
1.Litrature revive		-	-																		
2.Writing proposal																					
3. Proposal Exam																					
5.Ethical consideration																					
6. Pre test Questionnaire																					
7. Intervention																					
8.Data Collection																<b>&gt;</b>					
9. Data Analysis																					
9.Thesis and Article writing																					
10. Thesis exam																					
11.Submission for article publication																					
12.Submission of thesis																					

# **Appendix D: Budget**

### In baht

<u>Expenditure</u>	Cost
Traveling	30,000
Research assistants	40,000
CHW	40,000
Stationary	40,000
Workshop	30,000
Training	30,000
Miscellaneous charges	30,000
Total	240,000

# **Appendix E: Classifying Form**

Criteria for classifying women for the basic component of the Focused ANC

Name of	patient: Clinic record number:		
Address	: Telephone:		
INST	RUCTIONS: Answer all of the following questions by placing a cross mark in the correspond	jing box.	
0	BSTETRIC HISTORY	1	No Yes
1.	Previous stillbirth or neonatal loss?		
2.	History of 3 or more consecutive spontaneous abortions?		
З.	Birthweight of last baby < 2500g?	Ē	
4.	Birthweight of last baby > 4500g?	Ē	
5.	Last pregnancy: hospital admission for hypertension or pre-eclampsia/eclampsia?	Ē	
6.	Previous surgery on reproductive tract? (Myomectomy, removal of septum, cone biopsy, classical CS, cervical cerclage)		
CUF	RRENT PREGNANCY	r	No Yes
7.	Diagnosed or suspected multiple pregnancy?	Г	
8.	Age less than 16 years?	Ē	
9.	Age more than 40 years?	Γ	
10.	Isoimmunization Rh (-) in current or in previous pregnancy?	Γ	
11.	Vaginal bleeding?	Г	
12.	Pelvic mass?	Ē	
13.	Diastolic blood pressure 90mm Hg or more at booking?	Ē	
G	ENERAL MEDICAL	,	No Yes
14.	Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus?	Г	
15.	Renal disease?	Г	
16.	Cardiac disease?	Γ	
17.	Known 'substance' abuse (including heavy alcohol drinking)?	Ē	
18.	Any other severe medical disease or condition?	Г	
	Please specify		
A "Y	es" to any ONE of the above questions (i.e. ONE shaded box marked with a cross) n	neans that	the
wom	an is not eligible for the basic component of the new antenatal care model.	NO	VEC
Is the	e woman eligible? (circle)	NU	162
IT NC			
Date	Signature		
	(staff responsible for ANC)		

# **Appendix F: Counseling Module**

The Nurses will trained to follow these guidelines on each session with the pregnant women they have been adopted from the GATHER guidelines for Counseling.

Greet You Should

- Welcome each pregnant woman on arrival.
- Discuss in a comfortable and private place.
- Assure the pregnant woman of confidentiality.
- Express caring and acceptance by words and gestures throughout the meeting.
- Explain what to expect.

#### Ask You Should

- Ask the pregnant woman's reason for the visit.
- Encourage the pregnant woman to do two-thirds of the talking.
- Ask mostly 'open' questions.
- Pay attention to both what the client said and how it was said.
- Put yourself in the woman's shoes expressing understanding of what she said without criticism or judgment.
- Ask about the pregnant woman's feelings.
- Ask about her preferences.
- Tell You Should
  - Start the discussion focusing on the pregnant woman's preference(s).
  - Discuss the Importance of antenatal care.
  - Give information about benefits of attending ANC during pregnancy help her make her own decisions.
  - Avoid 'information overload'?
  - Use words familiar to the client?
  - Discuss the advantages of early reporting if she encountered danger symptoms during pregnancy?

#### Help You Should

- Let the pregnant women know that the decision is hers.
- Help the pregnant women be able to realize common danger symptoms.
- Help her think over the consequences for her own or her baby's life.
- Advise the pregnant women without controlling and frustrating.
- Let the pregnant women decide.
- Make sure the pregnant women's choices are based on accurate understanding.
- List any medical, social, cultural or religious reasons for making a different decision probably different from what you might like to achieve.

#### Explain You should

- Provide what the client wants, if there is no medical reason not to.
- Explain when the woman should come to you if one of the danger symptoms appeared?
- Help her to explain in her own words how much she understands each of the danger symptoms of pregnancy?
- Explain using printed instructions, pictures and diagrams?

#### Return You should

- Plan when the next visit should be.
- Discuss with the pregnant woman if she can come back with her husband or partner.
- Assure the pregnant woman that she should come back at any time, for any reason.
- Assure her to come back soon, even if she missed the day of her scheduled appointment for some reason beyond her control.
- Assure her that it is her full right to go to any other health facility at any time.
- Thank the pregnant woman for attending for antenatal care.

<b>First Visit</b> for all at first contact with clinics, regardless of	Visit for all at first contact with clinics, regardless of		Visits			
gestational age. If first visit later than recommended, carry out	$1^{st}$	$2^{nd}$	3 <sup>rd</sup>	$4^{\text{th}}$		
all activities up to that time						
DATE: / / .						
Clinical examination						
Clinically Severs Anemia? Hb test						
Ob. Exam: gestational age estimation, uterine height						
Gyn. Exam (can be postponed until second visit)						
Blood pressure taken						
Maternal weight/height						
Rapid syphilis test performed, detection of symptomatic STIs						
Urine test (multiple dipstick) performed						
Blood type and Rh requested						
Tetanus toxoid given						
Fe/ Folic acid supplementation provided						
Recommendation for emergencies/hotline for emergencies						
Complete antenatal card						
	Ges	tational	age — an	prox #		
Second Visit and Subsequent Visits	of w	veeks	age ap	prox. <i>n</i>		
DATE: / /	01 W	26	32	38		
		20 wk	JZ wk	wk		
Clinical examination for anemia		WK.	WK.	WK.		
Ob Exam: gestational age estimation uterine height fetal heart						
rate						
Blood pressure taken						
Maternal weight (only women with low weight at first visit)						
Urine test for protein (only pulliparous women/women with						
previous pre eclemptia)						
Fe/Felic acid supplementation given						
Personmendation for emergencies						
Complete entenetel cord						
Third Visit, add to second visit						
DATE. / / .						
Teterus tereid (second dese)						
Lustrestien fon deliesene (name fon birth						
December 10 delivery/ plan for birth						
Recommendations for Lactation/contraception						
Fourth Visit:						
		Ι				
Detection of breech presentation and referral for external						
cepnalic version						
Complete ANC care, recommend that it be brought to hospital						

# Appendix G: ANC card

### **Appendix H: Training of Nurses** Goals of Antenatal Care and What Happens at the Antenatal Clinic

- 1. Early detection and treatment of illness
  - Some women may have health problems that they are not aware of, or that may develop during pregnancy.
  - It is important to treat these problems as early as possible in order to keep mother and child in good health.
  - Some examples of common illnesses during pregnancy: anemia, hypertension, syphilis, other vaginal infections, or HIV.
- 2. Prevention of illness
  - Give vaccinations or other treatments to prevent illnesses in pregnant women: these include tetanus injections, iron tablets, and medicine to prevent malaria or extra vitamins.
  - If the mother has HIV, she will be given medicine (Nevirapine) to take once labor begins.
- 3. Being prepared for the birth and complications
  - Pregnant women should be helped to make plans for when the baby comes.
  - She many need to make arrangements for transport and for normal delivery at a health facility, i.e. clinic or hospital. She may need to arrange for traditional birth attendants to be with her if the baby will be born at home.
- 4. Promote good health in general
  - When a woman visits an antenatal clinic, it is also an opportunity to discuss a variety of health issues. This will help women take good care of themselves and their babies during and after pregnancy.
  - Health issues that may be discussed at the ANC:
    - Care for common discomforts
    - Good nutrition and a balanced diet
    - o Hygiene
    - Rest and activity
    - Prevention of diseases
    - Use of harmful substances, i.e. alcohol, tobacco, etc.

- Voluntary counseling and testing for HIV
- Early, exclusive breastfeeding
- o Techniques for successful breastfeeding
- o Sexual relations and safer sex
- Family planning
- o Newborn care

The **first FANC visit** should ideally occur before 16 weeks of pregnancy. You are expected to achieve the following objectives:

- Determine the woman's medical and obstetric in order to collect evidence of her eligibility to follow the basic component of FANC, or determine if she needs special care and/or referral to a higher health facility.
- Perform basic examinations (pulse rate, blood pressure, respiration rate, temperature, pallor, etc.).
- If you think the pregnancy is beyond the first trimester, try to determine the gestational age of the fetus by measuring fundal height
- Provide nutritional advice and routine iron and folacin supplementation. Advising against misconceptions about diet is also important.
- Give advice on malaria prevention and if necessary provide insecticide-treated bed nets (ITNs).
- Check her urine for sugar using the dipstick test
- Advise her and her partner to save money in case you need to refer her, especially if there
  is an emergency requiring transport to a health facility. She may also need money for
  additional drugs and treatments. Financial help may be available from local community
  organizations like women's groups.
- Provide specific answers to the woman's questions or concerns, or those of her partner.

Schedule the **second FANC visit** at 24-28 weeks of pregnancy. Follow the procedures already described for the first visit. In *addition*:

• Address any complaints and concerns of the pregnant woman and her partner.

- For first-time mothers and anyone with a history of hypertension or preeclamptia/eclamptia), perform the dipstick test for protein in the urine.
- Review and if necessary modify her individualized care plan.
- Give advice on any sources of social or financial support that may be available in her community.

The **third FANC visit** should take place around 30–32 weeks of gestation. The objectives of the third visit are the same as those of the second visit. In *addition* you should:

- Direct special attention toward signs of multiple pregnancies and refer her if you suspect there is more than one fetus.
- Perform the dipstick test for protein in the urine for all pregnant women (since hypertensive disorders of pregnancy are unpredictable and late pregnancy phenomena).
- Decide on the need for referral based on your updated risk assessment.
- Give advice on family planning
- Encourage the woman to consider exclusive breastfeeding for her baby.

Remember that some women will go into labor before the next scheduled visit. Advise all women to call you at once, or come to you, as soon as they go into labor. Don't wait!

The **fourth FANC visit** should be the final one for women in the basic component and should occur between weeks 36-40 of gestation. You should cover all the activities already described for the third visit. *In addition*:

- The abdominal examination should confirm fetal lie and presentation, At this visit, it is extremely important that you discover women with a baby in breech presentation or a transverse lie
- Provide the woman with advice on signs of normal labor and pregnancy-related emergencies (described in Study Session 15) and how to deal with them, including where she should go for assistance

### **Appendix I: IEC Contents**

A. What are to be done by mothers during pregnancy?

- 1. Check-up your health by doctor or family welfare visitor regularly
- 2. Take at least one iron table daily
- 3. Take nutritious diet and increased amount of food
- 4. Take at least one hour's rest daily at daytime
- 5. Immunize yourself against tetanus
- 6. Take help of trained birth attendant during delivery
- B. Problems those may arise during antenatal period and what to do then.
  - 1. Anemia and general weakness
  - 2. Swelling of feet and hands
  - 3. High blood pressure
  - 4. Excessive headache or vomiting
  - 5. Convulsion during pregnancy
  - 6. Unusual pain in abdomen
  - 7. Fever
  - 8. Excessive bleeding or watery discharge without labor pain
  - 9. Abnormal presentation of the baby
  - 10. Spotting

Please contact Bolan Medical Complex o Hospital if any of these complications/emergencies arise. (Larissa Jennings, 2010)

# Appendix J: Activities of AAC model

### Activities of AAC model:

Are divided into two parts one are the medical examination according to the visits and the second is the topics which will be cover in counseling on each visits

	1 <sup>st</sup> visit	2 <sup>nd</sup> visit	3 <sup>rd</sup> visits	4 <sup>th</sup> visit
	1-18 week	24-26 weeks	32 weeks	36-38 weeks
Goals	Confirm pregnancy and EDD, classify women for basic ANC (four visits) or more specialized care, Screen, treat and give preventive measures. Develop a birth and emergency plan Advice and	Assess maternal and fetal well being. Exclude PIH and anemia. Give preventive measures, review and modify birth and emergency plan. Advice and Counsel	Assess maternal and fetal well being. Exclude PIH, anemia, multiple pregnancies. Give preventive measures. Review and modify birth and emergency plan. Advice and counsel	Assess material and fetal well-being. Exclude PIH, anemia, multiple pregnancy, and misrepresentation Give preventive measures. Review and modify birth and emergency plan. Advice and counsel
History {ask, check records}	Assess significant symptoms. Take psychosocial medical and obstetric history- confirms pregnancy and calculate EDD. Classify all women (in some cases after test results)	Assess significant symptoms. Check record for previous complications and treatments during the pregnancy. Re classification if needed	Assess significant symptoms. Check record for previous complications and treatments during the pregnancy. Re classification if needed	Assess significant symptoms. Check record for previous complication and treatments during the pregnancy. Re classification if needed
Examination (Look, listen, fell)	Complete general, and obstetrical examination, BP	Anemia, BP, fetal growth, and movements	Anemia, BP, fetal growth, multiple pregnancy	Anemia, BP, fetal growth and movements, multiple pregnancy, malpresentation
Screening and tests	Hemoglobin Syphilis HIV Proteinuria Blood/RH group* Bacteriuria*	Bacteriuria*	Bacteriuria*	Bacteriuria*

	Syphilis ARV if	Antihelminthic**,	ARV if eligible	ARV if eligible if
Treatments	eligible Treat	ARV if eligible	Treat Bacteriuria	breech, ECV or referral
Treatments	Bacteriuria if	Treat Bacteriuria	if indicated*	for ECV Treat
	indicates*	if indicated*		Bacteriuria if indicated
Preventive	Tetanus toxoid	Tetanus toxoid,	Iron and	Iron and Folate ARV
	Iron and Folate+	Iron and	folateIPTp ARV	
measures		folateIPTp ARV	_	
	Self-care alcohol	Birth and	Birth and	Birth and emergency
	and tobacco use	emergency plan,	emergency plan,	plan, infant feeding,
Haalth	nutrition, safe sex,	reinforcement of	infant feeding,	postpartum/postnatal
nealli	rest, sleeping	previous advise	postpartum/post	care, pregnancy spacing,
education	under ITN, birth		natal care,	reinforcement of
auvise allu	and emergency		pregnancy	previous advice
counsening	plan		spacing,	
			reinforcement of	
			previous advice	

Acronyms: (EDD=estimated date of delivery; BP=blood pressure; PIH=pregnancy induced hypertension; ARV=antiretroviral drugs for HIV/AIDS; ECV=external cephalic version; IPTp=intermittent preventive treatment for malaria during pregnancy; ITN=insecticide treated bednet)

\*Additional intervention for use in referral centers but not recommended as routine for resource limited settings

\*\*Should not be given in first trimester, but if first visit occurs after 16 weeks, it can be given at first visit +should also be prescribed as treatment if anemia is diagnoses.

#### **Counseling by the Trained Nurse**

**Importance of ANC:** The subjects (Including husband) will be told that this is a physiological process and needs some special care during the pregnancy. Subjects will be informed that they face some problems related to their health and the baby health. The specialized care (ANC) will provide you information about health, about complication and their prevention, nutrition, vaccination and daily actives, which should be avoided.

<u>Pregnancy complication in first Trimester</u>: There are few condition which create emergency situation

- Bleeding: There are 20 25 % chances of bleeding or spotting and is a frequent phenomenon during first trimester and most likely the outcome will be normal and there is 3% chance of abortion. Contact community health work or visit hospital
- Sever Vomiting: When vomiting becomes persistent, frequent or sever it may lead to health problems because of nutrition and fluid needs Contact community health workers or Hospital
- Spontaneous abortion: Pregnancy termination, which is not induced voluntarily before the period of viability i.e. 28 weeks. Risk of spontaneous abortion for women with no history of reproductive wastage is about 15%.
- Ectopic Pregnancy: Sometime you pregnancy is outside you uterus this occurs in 1 out of 500 pregnancy. If you feel severe abdominal pain increase urinary frequency, burning sensation during urination low grade fewer feeling of motion contact doctor.
- Molar pregnancy: When your feel palpitation intolerance to heat increased appetite, fatigue swelling of led visit hospital

#### **Pregnancy complication in Second Trimester:**

For most women second trimester is a problem free period

- Bleeding: If you have severe bleeding visit doctor
- Preterm labor: There is about 6-12 % chance of preterm labor

#### **Pregnancy complication in third Trimester:**

- Obstetric Problems: Bleeding which can due to Placenta prevail, Abruption placenta other causes such as preterm labor and Fetal Growth retardation
- Medical Problems: Hypertension, gestational diabetes. Aggravation of underlying medical condition like anemia, cardiac disease, kidney problems.
- Warning signs: Persistent swelling of feet or face. Increasing breathless, especially on routine activity. Headaches, blurring of vision, blackouts or giddiness, fever (temperature > 38 C or 100F), high colored urine
- Contact hospital for all of the above conditions

#### **Diet during Pregnancy:**

Pregnancy diet ideally should be nutritious and easily digestible. The fetus has been a parasite of the mother for all its nutritional needs up to the first trimester (three months). In the second and third trimester an additional 300-calories/per day is recommended.

- Eat when you are hungry. Take small frequent meals.
- Eat high-quality protein, complex carbohydrates, Sources of proteins, carbohydrates and lots of fruits and vegetables
- Avoid eating at fast food restaurants.
- Carry quality snack foods with you.
- Try to avoid processed food and foods that come pre-prepared in packages (they usually have added fat, sugar or salt.)
- Arm your cupboard and refrigerator with healthy staple foods, which require little preparation cheese, fresh wholegrain breads, cereals, milk, etc....

<u>Smoking and other harmful substances</u>: To be on the safe side, it is better not to drink alcohol at all during pregnancy. When you drink alcohol is transported from the mother's blood to that of the fetus. Avoid smoking during pregnancy. Even passive smoking (smoking by partners/close ones) is also harmful to the baby.

**Husband Role:** The Husbands are the decision makers for the pregnant women. They will be asked to show his involvement in the pregnancy. Show that he cares. He should accompany her to the doctor on her regular visits and also provide financial support. Encourage her to tack naps prevent her from lifting heavy weights.

#	Pre - Knowledge Statements	Intervention	Control	Total n-100
11	1 re - Knowledge Statements	Correct A	nswers	<b>H</b> =100
1	Women don't need special care during pregnancy*	44(88.0)	46(92.0)	90
2	Health service provider such as doctors, nurses and	48(96.0)	43(86.0)	91
	midwives provides ANC to women			
3	Pregnant women should wait to receive ANC until	41(82.0)	26(52.0)	67
	they feel fetal movements during pregnancy*			
4	Pregnant women should go to ANC clinic 4 times	24(48.0)	28(56.0)	52
5	Only primipara women should go to ANC clinics*	41(82.0)	32(64.0)	73
6	Attending ANC can help prevent complication during	48(98.0)	41(82.0)	89
	pregnancy			
7	Women who don't have any problem during	26(52.0)	17(34.0)	43
	pregnancy should not attend ANC*			
8	ANC is an chance to inform pregnant women about	44(88.0)	39(78.0)	83
	the danger signs and symptoms of pregnancy			
9	Pregnant women don't need to get tetanus toxide	12(24.0)	14(28.0)	26
	injections during ANC*			
10	Pregnant women should attend ANC as soon as if	48(96.0)	39(78.0)	87
	they miss menstrual period			
11	There is no need of blood testing during pregnancy at	26(52.0)	43(86.0)	69
	ANC clinic*			
12	Mother going to ANC clinic services will know about	45(90.0)	38(76.0)	83
	the well being of the baby			
* Ne	gative Statements			

# Appendix K: Knowledge Statements

#	Post - Knowledge Statements	Intervention n=45(%)	Control n=43(%)	Total n=100
1	Women don't need special care during pregnancy*	43(95.6)	40(93.0)	83
2	Health service provider such as doctors, nurses and	44(97.8)	37(86.0)	81
	midwives provides ANC to women			
3	Pregnant women should wait to receive ANC until	38(84.4)	28(65.1)	66
	they feel fetal movements during pregnancy*			
4	Pregnant women should go to ANC clinic 4 times	42(93.3)	34(79.1)	76
5	Only primipara women should go to ANC clinics*	43(95.6)	36(83.7)	79
6	Attending ANC can help prevent complication during	43(95.6)	31(72.1)	74
	pregnancy			
7	Women who don't have any problem during	39(86.7)	31(72.1)	70
	pregnancy should not attend ANC*			
8	ANC is an chance to inform pregnant women about	44(97.8)	31(72.1)	75
	the danger signs and symptoms of pregnancy			
9	Pregnant women don't need to get tetanus toxide	40(88.9)	28(65.1)	68
	injections during ANC*			
10	Pregnant women should attend ANC as soon as if	44(97.8)	34(79.1)	78
	they miss menstrual period			
11	There is no need of blood testing during pregnancy at	39(86.7)	34(79.1)	73
	ANC clinic*			
12	Mother going to ANC clinic services will know about	43(95.6)	33(76.7)	76
	the well being of the baby			

\* Negative statement

			Int	erven	tion		Control						
#	# Pre Attitude			n=50			N=50						
		SA	Α	Ν	D	SD	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD		
1	I get good service during ANC	1	23	17	4	-	2	30	13	5	-		
2	I feel peaceful when I have ANC	2	20	21	7	-	3	14	20	13	-		
3	I am feared of blood tasting during ANC*	2	18	16	13	-	1	25	17	7	-		
4	I feel exhausted of long waiting time in ANC*	3	23	18	6	-	-	26	14	10	-		
5	I get good support from health personnel during ANC	-	28	10	11	1	2	26	14	18	-		
6	Its make me relaxed when I meet other pregnant women at ANC	-	28	11	9	2	-	25	17	7	1		
7	I don't get any helpful information from ANC visits*	2	20	16	9	3	6	21	13	10	-		
8	I feel shy when I get touched on abdomen by health personnel *	2	28	6	12	2	6	22	8	10	-		
9	I feel secure during ANC appointment	1	29	14	5	1	8	40	42	10	-		
10	In the absence of complications I will not go for ANC*	3	22	8	15	2	5	16	10	18	1		

# **Appendix L: Attitude Statements**

\* Negative Statements, SA=Strongly Agree, A = Agree, N= Neutral, D = Disagree, SD = Strongly Disagree.

			Inte	erven	tion		Control						
#	Post Attitude		n=45				N=43						
		SA	Α	Ν	D	SD	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD		
1	I get good service during ANC	7	31	4	3	-	2	30	13	5	-		
2	I feel peaceful when I have ANC	4	35	5	1	-	3	14	20	13	-		
3	I am feared of blood tasting during ANC*	-	6	6	32	3	-	18	12	11	-		
4	I feel exhausted of long waiting time in ANC*	-	6	7	31	1	1	20	13	9	-		
5	I get good support from health personnel during ANC	7	33	4	1	-	1	23	13	6	-		
6	Its make me relaxed when I meet other pregnant women at ANC	6	30	7	2	-	1	25	10	7	-		
7	I don't get any helpful information from ANC visits*	-	1	10	32	2	-	10	7	22	4		
8	I feel shy when I get touched on abdomen by health personnel *	-	3	8	27	7	-	4	15	18	6		
9	I feel secure during ANC appointment	3	34	8	-	-	5	21	11	6	-		
10	In the absence of complications I will not go for ANC*	-	5	6	26	8	-	12	6	22	1		

\* Negative Statements, SA=Strongly Agree, A = Agree, N= Neutral, D = Disagree, SD = Strongly Disagree.

#	Pre Satisfaction		In	terventi n=50	on		Control N=50					
		SA	Α	N	D	SD	SA	Α	N	D	SD	
1	Health personal are good about explaining the reason for medical test for ANC	2	41	3	4	-	1	40	5	2	1	
2	I think the hospital has everything needed to provide ANC services	-	27	29	4	-	1	25	18	6	-	
3	The ANC services I have been receiving is just about perfect	1	22	15	12	-	-	19	21	9	-	
4	Sometimes Health personal make me wonder if their diagnosis is correct	-	17	18	14	1	-	13	26	9	2	
5	I feel confident that I can get the ANC service without being set back financially	-	27	1	13	3	-	23	9	15	3	
6	When I go for ANC they are careful to check everything when treating me and examining me	-	37	7	8	-	-	35	3	10	2	
7	I have to pay more for ANC service than I can afford*	-	12	5	31	2	-	14	7	25	4	
8	I have easy access to the ANC services I need	2	12	8	27	1	1	17	11	29	2	
9	Where I get ANC services, people have to wait too long*	1	40	4	5	-	4	32	5	8	1	
10	Health personal act too businesslike and impersonal towards me*	-	11	15	23	1	-	17	11	21	1	
11	friendly and courteous manner	1	39	3	7	-	1	33	6	8	2	
.2	sometimes hurry to much when the*	-	25	3	22	-	1	18	8	23	-	
13	what I tell them*	1	34	3	12	-	2	29	7	10	2	
14	of the Health personal who provide ANC service *	-	14	15	21	-	-	18	13	19	-	
15	Health personal usually spend plenty of time with me	-	39	5	6	-	-	28	10	12	-	
16	I find it hard to get an appointment for ANC service right away*	-	25	4	18	-	-	17	10	23	-	
17	I am dissatisfied with some things about the ANC service I receive*	-	20	4	26	-	-	14	7	29	-	
18	I am able to get ANC whenever I needed it	-	29	12	10	-	-	22	16	12	-	

# **Appendix M: Satisfaction Statements**

\* Negative Statements, SA=Strongly Agree, A = Agree, N= Neutral, D = Disagree, SD = Strongly Disagree.

#	Post Satisfaction		In	terventi n=45	on		Control N=43					
		SA	Α	Ν	D	SD	SA	Α	N	D	SD	-
1	Health personal are good about explaining the reason for medical test for ANC	5	37	1	1	-	1	34	5	3	-	-
2	I think the hospital has everything needed to provide ANC services	7	33	5	-	-	2	25	10	6	1	
3	The ANC services I have been receiving is just about perfect	9	28	6	2	-	-	20	18	5	-	
4	Sometimes Health personal make me wonder if their diagnosis is correct	-	2	9	29	5	-	10	20	11	2	
5	I feel confident that I can get the ANC service without being set back financially	4	28	9	4	-	-	25	10	8	-	
6	When I go for ANC they are careful to check everything when treating me and examining me	7	27	10	1	-	1	28	5	9	-	
7	I have to pay more for ANC service than I can afford*	-	9	14	20	4	2	24	4	14	-	
8	I have easy access to the ANC services I need	-	25	10	2	-	2	14	9	18	-	
9	Where I get ANC services, people have to wait too long*	8	2	6	35	1	3	29	6	4	1	
10	Health personal act too businesslike and impersonal towards me*	-	3	6	32	4	-	11	10	20	2	
11	Health personal treat me in a very friendly and courteous manner	-	34	3	1	-	1	24	10	8	-	
12	sometimes hurry to much when the	-	3	6	32	4	-	15	5	20	3	
13	What I tell them*	-	2	7	34	2	1	20	7	14	1	
14	of the Health personal who provide ANC service *	-	4	9	29	3	-	14	8	21	-	
15	Health personal usually spend plenty of time with me	5	30	7	3	-	-	24	10	6	-	
16	I find it hard to get an appointment for ANC service right away*	-	2	8	33	2	-	17	11	14	1	
17	I am dissatisfied with some things about the ANC service I receive*	-	3	9	29	4	-	16	6	29	1	
18	I am able to get ANC whenever I needed it	5	28	11	1							

\* Negative Statements, SA=Strongly Agree, A = Agree, N= Neutral, D = Disagree, SD = Strongly Disagree.

No.SO-1(H)29-2605/2004/\_19888-99 GOVERNMENT OF BALOCHISTAN HEALTH DEPARTMENT Dated, Quetta the 18/1 June, 2011 To Medical Superintendent, 1) Sandeman Provincial Hospital, Quetta. 2) Medical Superintendent, Bolan Medical Complex Hospital, Quetta. PERMISSION TO CONDUCT DOCTORAL THESIS RESEARCH Subject: -PROJECT. The undersigned is directed to refer to the subject cited above and to convey approval of the competent authority allowing Mr. Sheh Mureed, Ph.D Student for collecting of Data from Sandeman Provincial Hospital, Quetta and Bolan Medical Complex Hospital, Quetta for completion of his Ph.D training. 2. The competent authority has desired to cooperate with Mr. Sheh Mureed, Ph.D Student in their research work (ABDUL WA ANEZAI) Under Secretary-I Copy forwarded to : i. Mr.r. Sheh Mureed, Medical Officer .

### **Appendix N: Permission Letter and Ethical Clearance**

### **CURRICULM VITAE**

Name: Sheh Mureed

Father Name: Dr. Naseer Ahmed Baloch

Born: 30-11-1985

Address: Room 629, Rangnam Apartments, Soi Rangnam, Bangkok

Email: shehdr@gmail.com

**Cell no:** +66828686633

#### Qualifications

MPH (health development systems): Chulalongkorn University, Thailand, 2009

BA (Social Science): Baluchistan University 2007

#### **Work Experience**

- 1. Field Officer: Baluchistan Rural Support program (BRSP) from 2007-2008
- 2. Reproductive Health Officer: Baluchistan Rural Support program (BRSP) 2009-2010

#### **Research work**

- 1. Thesis for the requirement of MPH, Knowledge Attitude and Preventive Behavior Of Students regarding HIV In Quetta Baluchistan
- 2. Research paper on KAP on HIV published in the journal of Chulalongkorn University

#### References

- Alessio Panza, M.D, M.Com.H, and DTMH Tel. 02-218-8192
   E-mail: <u>alessio3108@hotmail.com</u>, College of public health, Chulalongkorn university, Thailand.
- Robert Sedgwick Chapman, M.D, and M.P.H Tel. 02-218-8042
   E-mail: <u>rschap0421@yahoo.com</u>, College of public health, Chulalongkorn university, Thailand.
- **3. Prathurng Hongsranagon, Ph.D.** Tel. 02-218-8049 E-mail: arbeit\_3@hotmail.com, College of public health, Chulalongkorn